Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

4-23-2019 10:15 AM

The effect of low temperature and low light intensity on nutrient removal from municipal wastewater by purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB)

Peyman Dalaei The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Nakhla, George *The University of Western Ontario*

Graduate Program in Civil and Environmental Engineering A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Master of Engineering Science © Peyman Dalaei 2019

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Environmental Engineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Dalaei, Peyman, "The effect of low temperature and low light intensity on nutrient removal from municipal wastewater by purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB)" (2019). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 6160.

https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/6160

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

There has been increased interest in alternative wastewater treatment systems to improve nutrient recovery while achieving acceptable TCOD, TN, and TP discharge limits. Purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB) have a high potential for simultaneous nutrient removal and recovery from wastewater. This study evaluated the PPB performance and its growth at different operating conditions with a focus on HRT and light optimization using a continuous-flow membrane photobioreactor (PHB). Furthermore, the effect of low temperature on PPB performance was assessed to evaluate the PPB's application in cold-climate regions. In order to evaluate PPB performance, TCOD, TN, and TP removal efficiencies and Monod kinetic parameters were analyzed at different HRTs (36, 18, and 9 h), at temperatures of 22°C and 11°C and infrared (IR) light intensities of 50, 3, and 1.4 Wm⁻². The results indicated that low temperature had no detrimental impact on PPB's performance. The photobioreactor (PHB) with cold-enriched PPB has a high potential to treat municipal wastewater with effluent concentrations below target limits (TCOD< 50mgL⁻¹, TN<10 mgL⁻¹, and TP<1 mgL⁻¹). Monod kinetic parameters K_s, K, Y, and K_d were estimated at 20-29 mgCODL⁻¹, 1.6-1.9 mgCOD(mgVSS.d)⁻¹, 0.47 mgVSS mgCOD⁻¹, and 0.07-0.08 d⁻¹ at temperatures of 11°C-22°C respectively. The results of the steady-state mass balances showed TCOD, TN, and TP recoveries of 80%-86%, which reflected PPB's substrate and nutrient assimilation.

Previous studies utilized high light intensities (> 50 Wm⁻²) to provide PPB with the maximum energy required for its growth. In order to enable the PPB technology as a practical approach in municipal wastewater treatment, light intensity must be optimized. Based on the literature, there is no study on PPB performance at low light intensities using a continuous-flow membrane photobioreactor. The effect of low light intensities of 3, and 1.4 Wm⁻² on PPB performance was addressed in this study. The results indicated that PPB at a light intensity as low as 1.4 Wm⁻² were able to treat municipal wastewater with effluent concentrations below above-mentioned target limits. Light intensity (1-50 Wm⁻²) had no detrimental impact on PPB performance and Monod kinetic parameters. This study showed that the optimized light intensity required for municipal wastewater treatment with PPB is significantly lower than previously indicated in the literature.

The energy consumptions attributed to PHB's illumination of 3, and 1.4 Wm^{-2} were determined to be 1.44, and 0.67 kWh/m³ which is significantly lower than previous studies (> 24 kWh/m³).

Keywords

Purple phototrophic bacteria; Municipal wastewater; Monod kinetic parameters; Nutrient removal and recovery; Photobioreactor; Optimization

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Co-Authorship Statement	vi
Acknowledgments	vii
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	xi
Chapter 1	
1. Introduction	
1.1. Rationale	
1.2. Objectives	
1.3. Thesis organization	
1.4. References	
Chapter 2	
2. Literature review	
2.1. Purple phototrophic bacteria (PP	B)
2.2. Wastewater treatment by purple	phototrophic bacteria 5
2.3. Biological methane potential from	m PPB biomass11
2.4. Wastewater treatment with PPB	at low temperature 12
2.5. Monod kinetic parameters	
2.6. The effect of light intensity on P	PB performance14
2.7. PPB performance with light-dark	c cycles 17
2.8. Use of PPB vs microalgae for wa	astewater treatment

2.9.	PPB's opportunities	. 18
2.10.	Synopsis of the literature review	. 19
2.11.	References	. 21
Chapt	er 3	. 28
3.1.	Introduction	. 28
3.2.	Materials and methods	. 32
3.2.1.	Raw wastewater	. 32
3.2.2.	PPB enrichment	. 33
3.2.3.	Anaerobic membrane photobioreactor configuration and operation	. 33
3.2.4.	Analytical methods	. 37
3.2.5.	Microbial growth	. 37
3.2.6.	Monod kinetic model	. 38
3.3. R	esults and discussion	. 39
3.3.1.	PPB enrichment	. 39
3.3.2.	Photobioreactor operation and optimization at 22°C	. 40
3.3.3.	Municipal wastewater treatment with PPB at 11°C	. 46
3.3.4.	Microbial growth	. 48
3.3.5.	Monod kinetic model	. 49
3.4.	Conclusions	. 53
3.5.	References	. 55
Chapt	er 4	. 58
4.1.	Introduction	. 58
4.2.	Materials and methods	. 60
4.2.1.	Raw wastewater	. 60
4.2.2.	PPB enrichment	. 60

4.2.3.	Anaerobic membrane photobioreactor configuration at low infrared (IR) intensity 61
4.2.4.	Analytical methods
4.2.5.	Microbial growth
4.2.6.	Monod kinetic model 64
4.3.	Results and discussion
4.3.1.	IR light intensity measurement
4.3.2.	PPB fed-batch tests
4.3.3.	PPB performance at low light intensity
4.3.4.	Microbial growth73
4.3.4.	Monod kinetic parameters model75
4.4.	Summary and Conclusions
4.5.	References
Chapt	er 5
5. C	onclusions and recommendations
5.1.	Conclusions
5.2.	Recommendations
Apper	1dices
Apper	dix A. Supplementary material for chapter 3
Apper	dix B. Supplementary material for chapter 4
Curric	ulum Vitae

Co-Authorship Statement

This MESc thesis contains materials that are currently under review or in preparation to be submitted in peer reviewed journals as listed below:

Chapter 3: Low temperature nutrient removal and recovery from municipal wastewater by purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB)

Peyman Dalaei, Dang Ho, George Nakhla, Domenico Santoro

Under review in Bioresource Technology

The primary author of this chapter was Peyman Dalaei under the supervision of Dr. Nakhla and Dr. Santoro. The experiments were planned and conducted with guidance from Dr.Nakhla, Dr. Santoro, and Dr. Ho. The experimental analysis, data collection, and drafting the manuscript was carried out by Peyman Dalaei. Feedback on the manuscript was received from Dr. Nakhla and Dr. Santoro.

Chapter 4: The effects of low light intensity on purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB) performance for municipal wastewater treatment

Peyman Dalaei, Dang Ho, George Nakhla, Domenico Santoro

In preparation for submission to Bioresource Technology

The experiments was planned and conducted with guidance from Dr.Nakhla, Dr. Santoro, and Dr. Ho. The experimental analysis, data collection, and drafting the manuscript was carried out by Peyman Dalaei. Feedback on the manuscript was received from Dr. Nakhla and Dr. Santoro.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express special appreciation and gratitude to my advisor, professor and mentor Dr. George Nakhla and thank him for encouraging me in my research studies. I am forever thankful to him for allowing me to grow as a researcher and for being a tremendous mentor. His guidance, patience, and above all his vast knowledge supported me throughout my studies.

My sincere appreciation also goes to my industrial advisor, Dr. Domenico Santoro. I would like to thank him for his motivation, guidance, and for providing me with the opportunity to join his team as intern. Without his valuable support it wouldn't have been possible to conduct this research.

I would like to extend my appreciation to my colleagues and members of Dr. Nakhla's research group with whom I had the pleasure and privilege of working over the past two years- Reza Behreini, Dr. Mingu Kim, Masuduz Zaman, Mohammad Chowdhury, Basem Haroun, and Ahmed Ahmed. Particularly, I am grateful for Dr. Dang Ho's insightful guidance and valuable advice on this research.

Special thanks to Farnaz Daynouri-Pancino, Michelle Gabriel, Mirjana Grahovac, and Eric Mahoney from Trojan Technologies for their assistance on this research.

I would also like to thank to my beloved wife, Rezwana Bahrampourian for supporting me through it all, and can't thank her enough for encouraging me throughout this experience.

Special thanks to my family, words can not express how grateful I am to my mother, Fariba Mohajer, my father, Hamidreza Dalaei, and my sister, Taraneh Dalaei, for all the sacrifices they've made on my behalf.

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Summary of operating conditions and findings from the previous studies 7
Table 2.2. COD, TKN, and TP content of the PPB biomass and anaerobic release after 42 days 12
Table 2.3. The summary of Monod parameters using various kinds of substrate 13
Table 3.1. Selected literature studies on the application of PPB in wastewater treatment
Table 3.2. Municipal wastewater characteristics 32
Table 3.3. Summary of operational parameters 36
Table 3.4. COD, N, and P concentration of the inoculum and fresh wastewater
Table 3.5. Startup (periods 1 and 2) and steady-state (periods 3,4,5, and 6) effluent
characteristics (values in mgL ⁻¹)
Table 3.6. Steady state effluent characteristics at 11°C
Table 3.7. Summary of PPB kinetics parameters (Municipal wastewater) 53
Table 4.1. Municipal wastewater characteristics 60
Table 4.2. The summary of PHB operating conditions 63
Table 4.3. Steady-state photobioreactor performance for different periods 67
Table 4.4. The effect of the PPB biofilm on the PPB performance
Table 4.5. The summary of Monod kinetic parameters 78
Table 4.6. The comparison of the operating conditions and the performance of the PPB, high rate
algal pond (HRAP) and photobioreactors (PBRs)

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Purple phototrophic bacteria structure (Feniouk and Junge, 2008)
Figure 2.2. Cumulative methane production from the anaerobic digestion of PPB biomass grown
in the red meat processing wastewater (Hulsen et al., 2017)
Figure 2.3. Wavelength scan of Rhodopseudomonas speriodes at high and low light intensities
(Cohen-Bazire et al., 1957)
Figure 3.1. Photobioreactor (PHB) configuration
Figure 3.2. The SCOD, NH ₄ , and PO ₄ concentrations in fed-batch tests
Figure 3.3. TCOD (a), TN, and TP (b) removal efficiencies versus time
Figure 3.4. Influent and effluent COD concentrations at 22°C
Figure 3.5. Influent and effluent N concentrations at 22°C
Figure 3.6. Influent and effluent P concentrations at 22°C 45
Figure 3.7. Influent and effluent COD concentrations at 11°C 47
Figure 3.8. Influent and effluent N concentrations at 11°C
Figure 3.9. Influent and effluent P concentrations at 11°C 48
Figure 3.10. PPB wavelength scan (full-spectrum OD) test at 22°C and 11°C 49
Figure 3.11. Monod fit and experimental data for substrate removal (a) and cell growth (b) at
22°C
Figure 3.12. Monod fit and experimental data for substrate removal (a) and cell growth (b) at
11°C
Figure 4.1. Continuous membrane photobioreactor configuration at 3 Wm ⁻² (left), 1.4 Wm ⁻²
(center) and light-dark cycles of 2 h-2 h at light intensity of 1.4 Wm ⁻² (right)
Figure 4.2. Irradiance-wavelength profile at 3, and 1.4 Wm ⁻²
Figure 4.3. COD, N, and P concentrations in the fed-batch tests
Figure 4.4. Influent and effluent COD concentrations at 3 and 1.4 Wm ⁻²
Figure 4.5. Influent and effluent N concentrations at 3 and 1.4 Wm ⁻²
Figure 4.6. Influent and effluent P concentrations at 3 and 1.4 Wm ⁻² 70
Figure 4.7. TN, and TP removed per 100 mgCOD/L removed (lines at 1, and 6 mg/L represent
the average P and N ratio removed by PPB per 100 mgCOD/L in periods 1-6)
Figure 4.8. PHB's MLSS and MLVSS in periods1-773

Figure 4.9. Full-spectrum optical density measurement at 3 Wm ⁻² and 1.4 Wm ⁻² (HRT=18 h)	(a),
and at light-dark cycles of 2 h- 2 h at 1.4 Wm^{-2} (HRT = 9 h) (b)	74
Figure 4.10. Monod fit and experimental data for substrate removal (a) and cell growth (b) at	t the
low intensity of 3 Wm ⁻²	76

List of Abbreviations and Symbols

BOD	biochemical oxygen demand (mg/L)
BOD5	5-day biochemical oxygen demand (mg/L)
COD	chemical oxygen demand (mg/L)
DO	dissolved oxygen (mg/L)
HRAP	high rate algal ponds
HRT	hydraulic retention time (h)
IR	infra-red
ISS	inert suspended solids (mg/L)
K	maximum specific substrate utilization rate (gCOD/gVSS-d)
K _d	endogenous decay coefficicent (d ⁻¹)
Ks	half-velocity constant (mgCOD/L)
MBR	membrane bioreactor
nbCOD	non-biodegradable COD (mg/L)
nbsCOD	non-biodegradable COD (mg/L)
nbVSS	non-biodegradable votatile suspended solids
NH4-N	ammonium nitrogen
NO ₂ -N	nitirte nitrogen
NO ₃ -N	nitrate nitrogen
PHB	photobioractor
PPB	purple phototrophic bacteria
rbCOD	readily biodegradable COD (mg/L)

rbsCOD	readily biodegradable soluble COD (mg/L)
SCOD	soluble chemical oxygen demand (mg/L)
SRT	sludge retention time (d)
TCOD	total chemical oxygen demand (mg/L)
TKN	total Kjeldahl nitrogen (mg/L)
TN	total nitrogen (mg/L)
TP	total phosphorous (mg/L)
TS	total solids (mg/L)
TSS	total suspended solids (mg/L)
VFA	volatile fatty acids (mg/L)
VSS	volatile suspended solids (mg/L)
WWTP	wastewater treatment plant
Y	true yield coefficient (mgVSS/mgCOD)
μ	specific growth rate (d ⁻¹)
μ_{max}	maximum specific growth rate (d ⁻¹)

Chapter 1

1. Introduction

1.1. Rationale

A key challenge of municipal wastewater treatment is resource recovery while achieving an acceptable discharge limit. The current municipal wastewater treatment systems offer a maximum recovery of 15-20% nitrogen (Fux and Siegrist, 2004), and 20-30% phosphorous (Pitman et al., 1991; Jaffer et al., 2002). Environmental, financial costs of energy as well as the availability and costs of mineral fertilizers are the reasons behind shifting wastewater treatment from treatment towards resource recovery. In view of the paradigm shift in the wastewater industry towards resource recovery, novel technologies that recover organics, and nutrients such as algae and phototrophic bacteria are emerging. Algae and high rate algal pond (HRAP) can partition nutrients from wastewater using light. However, the application of HRAP is limited by its large footprint due to illuminated surface to volume ratios of 4-8 m^2/m^3 . Wastewater treatment by algae also requires high operational costs due to long HRTs between 2-10 days (Jorquera et al., 2010). Another possibility is the nutrient recovery and removal by purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB) which uses less light per weight assimilated biomass in comparison with algae (Basak and Das., 2009). Limited research has been conducted thus far to evaluate municipal wastewater treatment by PPB (Hulsen et al., 2014; Hulsen et al., 2016). The main goal of the previous studies was to evaluate the possibility of wastewater treatment by PPB (Chitaporpan et al., 2013; Hulsen et al., 2016). High light intensities were used to provide PPB with the maximum energy required for growth in wastewater. The PPB technology was not being optimized, had high operational costs, especially for lighting, which is a major concern and is required to be optimized to enable the practical application of the PPB in wastewater treatment industry.

1.2. Objectives

The objectives of this study are: (a) the evaluation of PPB performance at room and low temperature using a continuous-flow membrane photobioreactor (PHB); (b) the effects of low light intensities of 3, and 1.4 Wm⁻² on PPB performance in comparison with its performance at a high light intensity of 50 Wm⁻²; (c) the effects of temperature and light intensity on PPB enrichment and its growth; (c) the assessment of the simultaneous removal of COD, TN, and TP to below target limits of 50 mgCODL⁻¹, 10 mgNL⁻¹, and 1 mgPL⁻¹; (d) determination of the optimum HRT at low temperature and low light intensity; (e) the evaluation of the Monod kinetic parameters at low temperature and low light intensity in comparison with the kinetics at room temperature and high light intensity respectively.

1.3. Thesis organization

Chapter 1 presents an overview of the thesis and the logic behind nutrient removal and recovery from municipal wastewater by PPB. It summarizes the relevant literature to this study as well as specific research objectives. Chapter 2 includes a comprehensive literature review on wastewater treatment by PPB at different operational conditions using batch tests and continuous-flow membrane photobioreactor. Chapter 3 is a research article entitled "Low temperature nutrient removal and recovery from municipal wastewater by purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB)". The objective of this study was: (a) to evaluate the effects of low temperature on PPB enrichment and its growth; (b) to remove COD, TN, and TP from municipal wastewater to below target limits; and (c) to determine low temperature kinetics, which is critical for successful design and operation given the low system SRT of 3 days and the inherent sensitivity of the effluent substrate concentration. Chapter 4 is a research article entitled "The effects of low light intensity on purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB) performance for municipal wastewater treatment". The objective of this study was to assess PPB performance at low light intensities (3, and 1.4 Wm⁻²), simultaneous removal of COD, TN, and TP to below target limits, and the determination of Monod kinetic parameters at low light intensity.

1.4. References

Basak, N., Das, D., 2009. Photofermentative hydrogen production using purple nonsulfur bacteria Rhodobacter sphaeroides O.U.001 in an annular photobioreactor: a case study. Biomass Bioenergy 33 (6-7), 911-919.

Chitapornpan, S., Chiemchaisri, C., Chiemchaisri, W., Honda, R. and Yamamoto, K. (2012) Photosynthetic bacteria production from food processing wastewater in sequencing batch and membrane photo-bioreactors. Water Science and Technology 65(3), 504-512.

Fux, C., Siegrist, H., 2004. Nitrogen removal from sludge digester liquids by nitrification/ denitrification or partial nitritation/anammox: environmental and economical considerations. Water Sci. Technol. 50 (10), 19-26.

Hülsen, T., Batstone, D.J., Keller, J., 2014. Phototrophic bacteria for nutrient recovery from domestic wastewater. Water Res. 50, 18-26.

Hülsen, T., Barry, E.M., Lu, Y., Puyol, D., Keller, J., Batstone, D.J., (2016) Domestic wastewater treatment with purple phototrophic bacteria using a novel continuous photo anaerobic membrane bioreactor. Water Research 100, 486-495.

Jaffer, Y., Clark, T.A., Pearce, P., Parsons, S.A., 2002. Potential phosphorus recovery by struvite formation. Water Res. 36 (7), 1834-1842.

Jorquera, O., Kiperstok, A., Sales, E.A., Embiruçu, M., Ghirardi, M.L., 2010. Comparative energy life-cycle analyses of microalgal biomass production in open ponds and photobioreactors. Bioresour. Technol. 101 (4), 1406-1413.

Pitman, A.R., Deacon, S.L., Alexander, W.V., 1991. The thickening and treatment of sewage sludges to minimize phosphorus release. Water Res. 25 (10), 1285-1294.

Chapter 2

2. Literature review

2.1. Purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB)

Purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB) are a major group of phototrophic microorganisms that are divided into two different groups: purple sulfur bacteria (PSB), and purple non-sulfur bacteria (PNSB). The physiology of PSB is related to sulfide, hence high growth rate of PSB is observed under phototrophic conditions where sulfide is present (Pfennig, 1967). PNSB are a physiologically versatile group of purple bacteria which can grow substantially in anoxic phototrophic conditions with either organic carbon or carbon dioxide (CO₂). PPB require anoxic conditions for phototrophic growth because of the repression of pigment synthesis by oxygen (Cohn-Bazine et al., 1957). PPB generate energy from light in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), rather than from other chemicals (Basak and Das, 2007). PPB's ability to generate energy is due to the presence of photosynthetic pigments, bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid. PPB contain bacteriochlorophyll a (BChl a) with a maximum absorption at the spectrum of 800 nm, and BChl b with the highest absorption at 850 nm, revealing a high growth rate of PPB near the infrared (IR) region. PPB's capability to utilize infrared (IR) light is an operational advantage because IR illumination from light emitting diodes (LEDs) saves up to 70% of the power consumption compared to white lights which are required for algae growth (Bertling et al., 2006). The colors of the dense PPB culture include purple, purple-red, purple-violet, red, orange, brown, and yellow due to the presence of BChl a and BChl b and carotenoid pigments.

PPB's structure includes light harvesting complexes (LH₁-LH₂), reaction center, cytochrome bc₁ and ATP synthase which are shown below in Figure 1 (Feniouk and Junge, 2008). LH₁ complexes have a constant characteristic which is directly associated with the reaction center, however, the amount of LH₂ and its properties vary according to the light intensity and growth conditions (Kuhlbrandt, 1995). In response to a short flash of light, light harvesting complexes harvest the photons and the PPB's reaction center generates quinol (QH₂). The subsequent oxidation of quinol by cytochrome bc₁, causes the proton pumping from cytochrome bc₁ complex to periplasm. The resultant charge separation between cytoplasm and periplasm derives proton through ATP *synthase* to generate ATP energy (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Purple phototrophic bacteria structure (Feniouk and Junge, 2008)

The PPB biomass is rich in lipids, single cell protein (SCP), biopolymers, fatty acids and phototrophic pigments such as carotenoid and bacteriochlorophyll (Sasaki et al., 2005). Carotenoid pigments are widely used in the food processing industry as colorants, vitamin precursors, and as antioxidants (Mortensen, 2006). PPB are also used as a diet ingredient with a high content of protein, vitamins, and as a disease-preventing agent in the aquaculture production (Banerjee et al., 2000). Because of PPB's ability to remove pollutants and organic matters, PPB are also employed as bioremediation agents (Lu et al., 2013).

2.2. Wastewater treatment by purple phototrophic bacteria

PPB are important microorganisms because of (1) the removal of toxic substances, H_2S , and the contribution of the organic matters to anoxic environments in their roles as autotrophs; (2) the removal of organic compounds, and primarily non-fermentable organic compounds by their photoheterotrophic capacities. Readily biodegradable organic compounds such as malate and pyruvate are the preferred substrates, however, short-chain fatty acids and even carbohydrates are utilized by PPB (Sojka, 1978). PPB have a high potential in wastewater treatment attributed to the organic carbon and CO₂ assimilation (Azad et al., 2001), the removal of ammonia as a source of

nitrogen via assimilation (Takabatake et al., 2000), as well as phosphorous uptake by polyphosphate (polyP) formation (Hiraishi et al., 1991).

McKinlay and Harwood, (2010) indicated that *R.palustris* (PPB strain) biomass formula is CH_{1.8}O_{0.38}N_{0.18} and COD to VSS ratio was determined to be 1.78. In order to achieve effluent nitrogen and phosphorous concentrations below 10 mgL⁻¹ and 1 mgL⁻¹ respectively for the municipal wastewater treatment, the COD: N, COD:P, and N:P ratios are crucial (Hulsen et al., 2014). Hulsen et al. (2016) indicated that PPB removed organics and nutrients at an average TCOD:TN:TP ratio of 100:6:1. This ratio is higher than the TCOD:TN ratio of 100:2.5 achieved by Suhaimi et al. (1987) and higher compared to the TCOD:TP ratio of 100:0.63 reported by Hirashi et al. (1991).

Hydrogenase and nitrogenase present in the PPB membrane are active. Hydrogenase plays a major role in the fermentative hydrogen and organic acid production in the dark (Woodward et al., 2000). Although hydrogenases are present in PPB, phototrophic hydrogen production by the PPB is mostly mediated by nitrogenase. The high ammonia concentration is the reason behind the inhibition of PPB's nitrogenase enzyme resulting in very low hydrogen production, however, hydrogen production increased using N_2 as a nitrogen source (Kim et al., 2012a). The optimum light intensities for PPB biomass growth and photoproduction of hydrogen were achieved at 4-6 klux (32-47 Wm⁻²) and 6-10 klux (47-79 Wm⁻²) respectively. Light intensities higher than the optimum above-mentioned values do not cause inhibition for neither hydrogen production nor cell growth (Sasikala et al., 1991b). However, Zhou et al. (2014) indicated that the optimum light intensity to achieve the highest biomass production and COD removal from synthetic wastewater was 2 klux (16 Wm⁻²) in batch tests using a PPB strain (*Rhodopseudomonas*). The wastewater had a TCOD, NH₄-N and TP of 6000, 400, and 90 mgL⁻¹ respectively. The highest carotenoid content of the PPB was achieved at 8 klux (72 Wm⁻²) with a COD removal efficiency of 87%. The highest ATP production was achieved at 2 klux (16 Wm⁻²), however, carotenoid content of the PPB was the lowest at this light intensity.

A key advantage of using PPB in wastewater treatment is the production of high value protein. Hulsen et al, (2017) demonstrated that the crude protein, fat, and carbohydrate contents of PPB biomass are 65%, 33%, and 2% respectively. The average TCOD to VSS ratio was determined to be 1.67 (0.6 gVSS as PPB biomass for 1 gCOD_{removed}).

The operating conditions and main findings from the previous studies are summarized below, in Table 2.1.

Study	Wastewater	Experimental	IR	PPB	HRT	Findings
		setup	intensity	culture	(d)	
			(Wm⁻²)			
Chitaporpan	Synthetic	Membrane	270	Mixed	10	1. Average COD removal
et al., 2013	WW (PPB	photobioreactor				of 58%
	enrichment)					2. High light intensity to
	Food					prove the PPB potential
	processing					for wastewater
	ww					treatment
Prasertsan et	Tuna	Batch tests	8-24-40	RGª		1. Optimal PPB growth
al., 1993	condensate					at pH of 7 and IR
						intensity of 24 Wm ⁻²
						2. Average COD removal
						of 78%
						3. Lower COD removal
						efficiency at low IR light
						intensity
Kaewsuk et al.,	Dairy	Continuous	1300	Mixed	10	1. Average COD removal
2010	wastewater	photobioreactor				of 93%
						2. PPB Monod kinetic
						parameters
						determination of K _s =174
						mgCODL ⁻¹ , K=7.42
						mgCOD (mgVSSd) ⁻¹ ,
						K _d =0.14 (d ⁻¹), and
						μ=1.69 (d⁻¹)

Table 2.1. Summary of operating conditions and findings from the previous studies

Kim et al.,	Swine	Batch tests	8-16-	RP ^b		1.Optimal PPB growth
2004	wastewater		24-30-			at IR intensity of 30
			40			Wm ⁻² and a
						temperature of 30°C
						2.The COD and
						phosphate removal
						efficiencies of 50% and
						58%
						3.Low substrate
						removal at 4Wm ⁻²
						(Organic acid removal
						efficiency of 20%)
Chiemchaisri	Noodle	Continuous	-	Mixed	6-10	1.High COD removal
et al., 2008	wastewater	photobioreactor				efficiency of 90%
Hulsen et al.,	Municipal	Batch tests	50	Mixed		1.Simultanuous removal
2014	wastewater					of SCOD, NH ₄ -N, and
						PO ₄ -P
						2.High ammonia, and
						phosphate removal
						efficiencies (>90%) with
						the addition of acetate
Hulsen et al.,	Municipal	Continuous	50	Mixed	<1	1.Effluent TCOD, TN,
2016	wastewater	membrane				and TP concentration
		photobioreactor				below 50 mgL ⁻¹ , 10 mgL ⁻
						¹ , and 1 mgL ⁻¹ with the
						addition of an external
						carbon source
						2. High nutrient mass
						closure (>90%)

						3.PPB COD: N: P uptake
						ratio of 100: 6: 1
Hulsen et al.,	Municipal	Continuous	50	Mixed	<1	1.Effluent TCOD, TN,
2016	wastewater	membrane				and TP concentration
		photobioreactor				below 100 mgL ⁻¹ , 10
						mgL ⁻¹ , and 1 mgL ⁻¹ with
						the addition of an
						external carbon source
						at temperature as low
						as 10°C
Puyol et al.,	Municipal	Batch tests	50	Mixed		1. PPB Monod kinetic
2017	wastewater					parameters
						determination of K_s =20
						mgCODL ⁻¹ , K=2.4
						mgCOD (mgVSSd) ⁻¹ ,
						K _d =0.09 (d ⁻¹), and
						µ=1.54 (d⁻¹)

^a Rubrivivax gelatinosus, ^b Rhodopseudomonas palustris

Previous studies mainly focused on the enrichment of a single strain of PPB from industrial wastewater utilizing batch cultivation methods (Prasertsan et al., 1993). They mostly focused on the removal of COD from wastewater. It is important to note that PPB can remove COD, nitrogen (N), and phosphorous (P) simultaneously with a specific ratio. Stoichiometry of the COD, N, and P removal by PPB is an important factor which must be taken in to account.

Prasertsan et al. (1997) conducted a series of batch tests using a PPB strain (*Rhodocyclus gelatinosus*) to treat tuna condensate (the effluent after pre-cooking tuna) at different pH levels, and light intensities to evaluate the optimized pH and light intensity based on COD removal, PPB biomass growth, bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid pigment production. The optimized pH and light intensity were determined to be 7, and 24 Wm⁻².

An 8L anaerobic membrane photobioreactor was used by Chitapornpan et al. (2013) to grow a mixed culture of PPB using acetate-based enrichment media at a hydraulic retention time (HRT) of 10 days and at temperatures between 28°C and 39°C. The observed IR intensity at the front surface of the photobioreactor was 270 Wm⁻². The food processing wastewater had an influent COD, BOD, and TKN concentration of 3171 ± 1692 , 2046 ± 1265 , and 17 ± 8 mgL⁻¹ respectively. The average COD, and BOD removal efficiencies were determined to be 58% and 51% respectively. The energy consumption attributed to lighting the photobioreactor at 270 Wm⁻² and a surface area of 0.04 m⁻² was determined to be 32 kWh/m³.

Hulsen et al. (2014) showed that PPB can be enriched in municipal wastewater alone by using a series of the batch tests under anaerobic conditions with infrared (IR) light at $30\pm1^{\circ}$ C. The enriched PPB simultaneously removed the COD, NH₄-N, and PO₄-P with removal efficiencies of 63%, 99%, and 88% respectively from the primary effluent municipal wastewater. Acetate was used as an external carbon source to achieve the maximal nitrogen and phosphorous removal according the SCOD/NH₄-N/PO₄-P ratio of 100/8.6/1.4.

A continuous-flow membrane photobioreactor with ethanol supplementation at a dose of 300 mgCODL⁻¹ was employed by Hulsen et al. (2016) to remove organics and nutrients from the municipal wastewater to below discharge limits (< 50 mgCODL⁻¹, 10 mgNL⁻¹, 1 mgPL⁻¹). The photobioreactor (PHB) was operated at high IR light intensity of 50 Wm⁻² to prove the application of the PPB to treat the municipal wastewater using PHB at HRT of 8-24 h. Steady state mass balances indicated the average recoveries of TCOD, TN, and TP of 78%, 91%, and 92% respectively. The effluent TCOD, TN, and TP concentration were 30 ± 10 mgL⁻¹, 4.3 ± 1.2 mgL⁻¹, and 0.45 ± 0.3 mgL⁻¹ respectively, corresponding to the TCOD, TN, and TP removal efficiencies of 96.9% $\pm0.9\%$, 92% $\pm2.3\%$, and 94.6% $\pm3.1\%$. Mixing energy for membrane scouring and lighting are the main inputs for anaerobic membrane photobioreactor using PPB. PHB's energy consumption attributed to the light intensity of 50 Wm⁻² was determined to be 24 kWh/m³ (Hulsen et al., 2016). Hulsen et al. (2017) estimated the energy required for the PHB' mixing to 0.15 kWh/m³. Therefore, the high energy required for the PHB's lighting is the main concern for the PPB's technology, thus necessitating optimization.

A series of anaerobic batch tests at 30°C using 160 mL flasks were used by Huslen et al. (2017) to evaluate PPB performance in the treatment of filtered red meat processing wastewater. The NH₄-

N and PO₄-P removal efficiencies were 64% and 73% respectively. The results from this study indicated that the ratio of SCOD/NH₄-N/PO₄-P removed by PPB was 100/4.3/1.7. The overall PPB yield on the filtered red meat processing wastewater was $0.9\pm0.1 \text{ gCOD}_{\text{produced}} (\text{gCOD}_{\text{removed}})^{-1}$, which demonstrates the potential of high recovery in wastewater treatment by PPB. The mass balance closure showed that the removal of nitrogen was non-destructive with a mass closure of 100% (Hulsen et al., 2017).

2.3. Biological methane potential from PPB biomass

The mesophilic (37°C) anaerobic digestion of PPB biomass from the filtered red meat processing wastewater indicated that the cumulative methane production at standard temperature and pressure (STP) was 381 mLCH₄ / gVS_{added} after 42 d which is depicted in Figure 2.2 (Hulsen et al., 2017). A significant conclusion from the BMP test results showed that the total degradable fraction (f_d) was fitted at approximately 53%, which indicates that a considerable portion of the sludge would still require disposal.



Figure 2.2. Cumulative methane production from the anaerobic digestion of PPB biomass grown in the red meat processing wastewater (Hulsen et al., 2017)

The PPB anaerobic digestion's drawback is the release of nutrients; 27 mgNH4-N gVSadded⁻¹ and 5.5 mgPO4-P gVSadded⁻¹, corresponding to 26% and 43% of nitrogen and phosphorous in the initial PPB biomass respectively (Table 2.2). However, the released COD: N: P ratio of 100: 2.6: 0.5 demonstrated the high potential of the PPB fermentate for use as an internal COD source rather than ethanol as an external carbon source.

Table 2.2. COD, TKN, and TP content of the PPB biomass and anaerobic release after 42days

PPB biomass (t=0)						
mgTKN gVS ⁻¹	mgTP gVS ⁻¹	mgCOD gVS ⁻¹				
103.3	13	1700				
Released (t=42 d)						
26.5	5.5	1				
Released (%)						
26	43	59				

2.4. Wastewater treatment with PPB at low temperature

Cold-active purple bacteria can grow in permanently cold environments (Burke and Burton, 1988; Madigan, 1998). A study by Karr et al. (2003) demonstrated that purple bacteria inhabited a lake in McMurdo Dry Valleys of Antarctica, which is permanently frozen with ice covers of 4-7 m. Purple bacteria were isolated from samples of microbial mats that grew along the edge of lakes and from water under the ice. *Rhodoferax antarcticus* was detected as a cold-active purple bacterium (optimal growth at 18°C and no growth occurs above 24°C), which was the first anoxygenic phototrophic bacteria that can grow at 0°C (Madigan et al., 2000). According to the literature, only one study was carried out to evaluate the wastewater treatment by PPB at low temperature. Hulsen et al. 2016 evaluated the application of phototrophic purple bacteria (PPB) for municipal wastewater treatment at low temperature ($10 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C). The results indicated that simultaneous TCOD, TN, and TP removal to below discharge limits (TCOD < 100 mgL⁻¹, TN <

10 mgL⁻¹, and TP < 1 mgL⁻¹) was achieved at the HRT and SRT of 22 hours and 3 days respectively.

2.5. Monod kinetic parameters

Table 2.3 demonstrates the Monod kinetic parameters of the PPB from different studies using various kinds of substrates. A series of batch tests were performed by Puyol et al. (2017) to evaluate the Monod kinetic parameters using PPB inoculum from the photobioreactor which was operated by Hulsen et al. (2016). PPB grow rapidly in municipal wastewater under anaerobic conditions (K = 2.4 mgCOD mgVSS⁻¹ d⁻¹, K_s= 20 mgCODL⁻¹). The hydrolysis was relatively slow (0.1 d⁻¹), which showed that the particulate substrates were not degraded at short HRTs. However, the decay rate was relatively high (K_d = 0.09 d⁻¹) which was comparable to the activated sludge.

Substrate	Bacteria	Ks	К	K _d	Y	μ_{m}	References
		(mgCOD/	(mgCOD/	(d-1)	(mgVSS/	(d-1)	
		L)	mgVSSd)		mgCOD)		
Dairy	Mixed PPB	174	7.42	0.1383	0.2281	1.69	Kaewsuk et al.,
wastewater							(2010)
Coconut	Rhodobacter	8000		0.0008	0.1383	0.32	Kantawanichkul,
cream	sphaeroides						(1990)
Domestic	Mixed PPB				0.36	0.008	Somiya et al.,
wastewater							(1988)
Acetate	Rhodobacter	74.5ª			0.86 ^b		Nakajima,
	sphaeroides						(1996)
Acetate	Rhodobacter			0.014			Nakajima et al.,
	sphaeroides						(1997)
Acetate	Mixed PPB	20	2.4	0.09	0.67	1.54	Puyol et al.,
							(2017)

Table 2.3. The summary of Monod parameters using various kinds of substrate

^a Half velocity coefficient for DOC (mgDOC/L)

^b Growth yield on carbon (g-C/g-DOC)

2.6. The effect of light intensity on PPB performance

Holt and Marr, (1965) indicated that *Rhodospirillum rubrum* grown at low infrared (IR) light intensity contained more bacteriochlorophyll pigments than PPB grown at high light intensity. PPB is able to adapt its structure to low light intensity by an increase in the bacteriochlorophyll content. Cohen-Bazire et al. (1957) discovered that the rate of bacteriochlorophyll synthesis is inversely linked to the light intensity in *Rhodospirillum rubrum* and *Rhodopseudomonas spherioides* (PPB strains). Just as the illumination intensity is suddenly changed, the pigments adjust their populations by transient stimulation or by suppression. A decrease in light intensity causes an acceleration in the rate of bacteriochlorophyll pigment synthesis. However, an increase in the light intensity showed higher values at 590, 800, and 850 nm compared to the PPB grown at high light intensity which is depicted in Figure 2.3. The peaks at the spectrum of 590, 800, and 850 nm is due to the presence of the bacteriochlorophyll pigments in PPB.



Figure 2.3. Wavelength scan of *Rhodopseudomonas speriodes* at high and low light intensities (Cohen-Bazire et al., 1957)

A long-term laboratory scale photobioreactor was operated by Hulsen et al. (2016) at IR light intensity of 50 Wm⁻² to prove the PPB's ability to treat municipal wastewater. It was suggested that the photobioreactor's operation at IR light intensity of 20 Wm⁻² may be possible which might considerably reduce the PPB operational cost (Hulsen et al., 2017). Light intensity is an important factor in the PPB growth since PPB convert light energy into chemical energy (ATP) through ATP synthase. PPB growth rate increased with an increase in the light intensity from 16 to 32 Wm⁻²; however, further increases in the light intensity, exceeding 40 Wm⁻², resulted in a significant decrease in the PPB growth (Nath and Das, 2009; Shi and Yu, 2005).

A series of batch tests were conducted by Kim et al. (2004) to evaluate the removal of organic acids, COD, and phosphate from swine wastewater by PPB. The organic acids included acetic acid, isobutyric acid, propionic acid, butyric acid, valeric acid, isovaleric acid, and caproic acid. These batch tests were carried out at different operating conditions to achieve the optimum temperature, pH, and light intensity. The initial concentrations of organic acids, COD and phosphate were 169 mgL⁻¹, 18700 mgL⁻¹ and 180 mgL⁻¹ respectively. All experiments were performed using 150 mL serum bottles. Optimum operating conditions for the removal of organic acids by a PPB strain were determined at pH 7 and at 30°C, with a light intensity of 4 klux (32 Wm⁻²). The removal of COD from the wastewater increased with an increase in light intensity below a specific threshold (32 Wm⁻²). However, the COD removal efficiency dropped significantly at higher light intensities due to the light inhibition of PPB (Qu et. al., 2011; Zhang et. al., 2014). The maximum COD and PO₄-P removal efficiencies were 50% and 58% respectively when experiments were conducted under a light intensity of 32 Wm⁻².

Prasetsan et al. (1993) evaluated the effect of light intensities of 8, 24, and 40 Wm⁻² on bacteriochlorophyll pigment production and COD removal from tuna condensate wastewater (diluted with shrimp-blanching water) using the *Rhodocyclus gelatinosus* PPB strain at 30°C. The amount of bacteriochlorophyll pigments of this PPB strain was maximum at 8 Wm⁻², however, the maximum COD removal (86%) was achieved at a light intensity of 24 Wm⁻².

Zhou et al. (2014) conducted a series of batch tests to determine the optimum light intensity for bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid pigments production, PPB biomass growth, ATP production and COD removal from synthetic wastewater using the *Rhodopseudomonas* PPB strain. The initial COD, NH₄-N, and TP concentrations were respectively 6000, 400, and 90 mgL⁻¹ respectively. The

batch tests were carried through using different light intensities of 500, 1000, 2000, 4000, and 8000 lux which are equivalent to 4, 8, 16, 32, and 64 Wm^{-2} .

PPB biomass production improved at light intensities of 8, 16, and 32 Wm⁻² compared to the lowest and highest light intensities of 4 and 64 Wm⁻² (Zhou et al., 2014). The optimum light intensity for PPB biomass was reached at 16 Wm⁻². PPB biomass production at 64 Wm⁻² was lower than PPB biomass production at 4 Wm⁻², which means that higher light intensity inhibited PPB growth. The increase in PPB biomass production with an augmentation in light intensity from 4 to 16 Wm⁻² is rational because a higher light intensity provided the PPB with more energy for growth; however, there was a specific light threshold at which PPB ceased to grow due to the light-inhibition (Cheirsilp and Torpee, 2012; Sorokin and Krauss, 1958). A similar phenomenon was reported for microalgae growth (Ogbonna and Tanaka, 2000; Munoz and Guieysse, 2006). It was noted that the microalgae's biomass increased continuously up to 10 klux (80 Wm⁻²), however, there was a light inhibition for intensities higher than 10 klux, which brought the microalgae's growth to a standstill (Cheirsilp and Torpee, 2012).

The light conversion efficiency is defined as PPB biomass produced / light intensity used. The maximum and minimum light conversion efficiencies were achieved at 0.5 klux (4 Wm^{-2}) and 8 klux (64 Wm^{-2}) respectively.

The effect of different light intensities on bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid pigments production was reported by Zhou et al. (2014). The production of carotenoid pigments was highest at 8 klux (64 Wm⁻²) and lowest at 2klux (8 Wm⁻²). The bacteriochlorophyll pigment production trend was significantly different with carotenoid production. The amount of bacteriochlorophyll pigments was highest at 1 klux (8 Wm⁻²), and lowest at 8 klux (64 Wm⁻²). The quantity of carotenoid and bacteriochlorophyll produced by PPB directly determines the energy captured by PPB and affects its growth. Bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid pigments both exist in PPB cells and bond with protein components of the photosynthetic system (Kuo et al., 2012). Carotenoid played an important role when light intensity was excessive. Carotenoid pigments showed photo-protective abilities based on their specific structural and chemical characteristics (Connelly et al., 1997). This signifies that carotenoid pigments absorb greater light when the light intensity is near PPB's light threshold in order to protect the PPB from light inhibition.

The intracellular energy of PPB is produced in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). ATP plays a significant role in various PPB activities. ATP participates in the synthesis of all intracellular substances (carbohydrate, protein, lipid, and nucleic acid) (Rasmuson et al., 2008). The Calvin cycle is the main synthesis pathway in PPB intracellular macromolecules. The Calvin cycle and synthesis process of intracellular protein continuously consume ATP, and hence require a large amount of ATP (Horton et al., 2003; Harun et al., 2002). ATP is crucial in the wastewater treatment by PPB, the removal of substrates and nutrients as well as the synthesis of PPB. As such, the amount of ATP directly affects COD removal and biomass growth. ATP production showed higher value at light intensities of 1-4 klux (8-32 Wm⁻²) compared to a low light intensity of 500 lux (4 Wm⁻²) (Zhou et al., 2014). The optimum light intensity for ATP production was 2 klux (16 Wm⁻²) and its lowest ATP production was at the light intensity of 8 klux (64 Wm⁻²).

The COD removal efficiency improved from 85% to 95% with an increase in light intensity from 1 klux to 4 klux (8-32 Wm⁻²). The optimal light intensity for COD removal was 2 klux (16 Wm⁻²) with the COD removal efficiency of 95% (Zhou et al., 2014). COD removal from synthetic wastewater increased with higher light intensities below the threshold of 5 klux (40 Wm⁻²). However, COD removal efficiency decreased at higher light intensities of above 5klux (40 Wm⁻²) due to PPB's light inhibition (Zhang et al., 2014; Qu et al., 2011).

2.7. PPB performance with light-dark cycles

Light-dark cycles affect the light energy available for PPB growth. Since bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid pigments are major light-harvesters within PPB and have a significant effect on the quantity of ATP (energy) produced (Smith et al., 2014), the light-dark cycles will certainly impact their behaviours. The effect of light-dark cycles on COD removal from synthetic wastewater with the TCOD, NH₄-N and TP concentrations of 6000, 400, and 90 mgL⁻¹, PPB biomass and bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid pigments production was evaluated by Zhou et al. (2015). The light-dark cycles of 1 h-2 h, 1.5 h-1.5 h, 2 h-1 h, 2.5 h-0.5 h, and full light exposure were set every 3 hours at the temperature of 26-30 °C. The effect of light-dark cycle on biomass production and COD removal were evaluated using 1 L glass flasks which were illuminated at 16 Wm⁻². The PPB biomass production, COD removal, bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid pigment production were highest with the light-dark cycles of 2 h-1 h.

2.8. Use of PPB vs microalgae for wastewater treatment

Shoener et al. (2014) indicated that nitrogen and phosphorous removal efficiencies from wastewater using open algal systems ranged from 36% to 87% and 32% to 73% respectively. However, nitrogen and phosphorous removal efficiencies of the photobioreactors using algae were 68%-80% and 85%-90% respectively. Stumm and Morgan (1981) showed that the average COD/N/P uptake ratio for microalgae was 100/16/1. This ratio shows that microalgae is more efficient for nitrogen removal compared to PPB with COD/N/P uptake ratio of 100/6/1 (Hulsen et al.,2016). Hulsen et al. (2016) showed that a hydraulic retention time (HRT) as low as 9 hours can be achieved in municipal wastewater treatment with PPB using a membrane photobioreactor. However, wastewater treatment with algae requires a significantly longer HRT of about 2-10 days (Jorquera et al., 2010; Larsdotter, 2006). Typical HRTs for tubular and flat-plate photobioreactors used for algae growth is 10 days (National-Research-Council, 2012). Posten, (2009) reported that photobioreactors using algae for wastewater treatment are not economic due to high capital and operational costs attributed to the large footprint and long HRTs. However, PPB's application in the wastewater treatment industry offers high COD, N, and P removal efficiencies at low HRTs with a very small footprint (Hulsen et al., 2016).

PPB require lower light intensity in comparison with algae; 16-50 Wm⁻² (Prasetsan et al., 1993; Zhou et al., 2014; Hulsen et al., 2016) were used for wastewater treatment by PPB versus 100-200 Wm⁻² used in commercial algal photobioreactors (Gordon and Polle, 2007). Furthermore, the use of infrared LED for PPB reduces the energy consumption per photon by up to 70% compared to the UV-VIS range (200-700 nm) (Bertling et al., 2006). Therefore, the use of PPB in wastewater treatment offers the potential of substantially lower operational costs compared to algae.

2.9. PPB's opportunities

Two PPB's species (*C. vinosum*, and *T. floridana*) were detected from primary and secondary lagoons (70 million gallons volume) which were designed for municipal wastewater treatment (Holm and Vennes, 1970). The PPB enrichment and its growth showed the possibility of wastewater treatment with PPB in the lagoons using sunlight; however, algae and other phototrophic bacteria can grow with a full-spectrum light exposure. UV-VIS filters can be used to

block the spectrums below 790 nm and to prevent the algae growth and the growth of other phototrophic bacteria. A membrane photobioreactor with artificial lights is another possible configuration for municipal wastewater treatment with PPB (Chitapornpan et al., 2013; Hulsen et al., 2016). These reactors consume additional energy for continuous illumination compared to the conventional anaerobic membrane bioreactors (Hulsen et al., 2014).

2.10. Synopsis of the literature review

The majority of prior studies utilized defined PPB cultures, sterilized growth media or synthetic wastewater using batch tests. However, real wastewater and mixed PPB culture must be used to evaluate PPB's performance in wastewater treatment. According to the literature, only one study has been performed to evaluate PPB performance at low temperature and there is no study thus far to determine PPB's Monod kinetic parameters at low temperature. In order to design a photobioreactor for wastewater treatment using PPB at low temperature it is crucial to determine the kinetic parameters involved in the bioreaction. Determination of Monod kinetic parameters is also necessary while the photobioreactor is being operated at a short SRT (< 3 days) due to the sensitivity of the effluent substrate to kinetic parameters.

The previous studies utilized high light intensities (> 50 Wm⁻²) to prove PPB's viability in wastewater treatment. Using artificial light with high intensities is a major concern in wastewater treatment with PPB as it is neither environmentally friendly nor financially feasible. Hence, it is crucial to decrease energy consumption for the required lighting to enable this technology. Zhou et al. (2014) showed that 40 Wm⁻² is the threshold light intensity for PPB growth and COD removal, hence, PPB's performance can decrease at higher intensities due to the light inhibition of PPB. Therefore, most previous literature studies could not demonstrate PPB's highest performance due to utilising a higher light intensity than PPB's light threshold of 40 Wm⁻². PPB's energy consumption for the photobioreactor's lighting utilised by Hulsen et al. 2016 with an IR light intensity of 50 Wm⁻² was determined to be 24 kWh/m³ which is too high for the practical application of the PPB technology.

Zhou et al. (2015) indicated that the highest COD removal, bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid pigments production were achieved at light-dark cycle of 2 h/ 1 h which can decrease the energy consumption for lighting significantly by up to 30 % compared to full light exposure. Therefore,

the effect of light-dark cycle on PPB performance using photobioreactor is necessary to optimize the PPB technology.

A major challenge in municipal wastewater treatment with PPB is the undesirable COD/N/P ratio. An external COD in the form of ethanol has to be supplemented to the photobioreactor to achieve low effluent TN and TP concentrations (<10 mgNL⁻¹ and 10 mgNL⁻¹). However, adding an external carbon source is costly and challenges the economic feasibility of the PPB technology. In industrial wastewater treatment (food processing wastewater), however, an external carbon source is not required due to a high concentration of influent COD (Hulsen et al., 2017). The results of the anaerobic digestion of PPB produced during the treatment of red meat processing wastewater showed that the ratio of the released COD: N: P after 42 days was 100: 2.6: 0.5 (Hulsen et al., 2017). This ratio shows the high potential of PPB fermentate for use an internal COD source rather than any external carbon source in municipal wastewater treatment with PPB, which requires supplementation of COD by an average 300 mgCODL⁻¹ as an external COD source to achieve high removals of TN and TP.

2.11. References

American Public Health Association (APHA) (1998). Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. 20th ed. Washington, D. C: American Water Works Association (AWWA), Water Environment Federation (WEF).

Azad, S., Vikineswary, S., Ramachandran, K. and Chong, V. (2001) Growth and production of biomass of Rhodovulum sulfidophilum in sardine processing wastewater. Letters in applied microbiology 33(4), 264-268.

Banerjee S, Azad A, Vikineswary S, Selvaraj O, Mukherjee T. 2000. Phototrophic bacteria as fish feed supplement. J. Anim. Sci. 13 (7): 991-994.

Basak, N., Das, D., 2009. Photofermentative hydrogen production using purple nonsulfur bacteria Rhodobacter sphaeroides O.U.001 in an annular photobioreactor: a case study. Biomass Bioenergy 33 (6e7), 911-919.

Bertling, K., Hurse, T.J., Kappler, U. and Rakić, A.D. (2006) Lasers - An effective artificial source of radiation for the cultivation of anoxygenic photosynthetic bacteria. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 94(2), 337-345.

Blankenship, R.E., Madigan, M.T. and Bauer, C.E. (1995) Anoxygenic Photosynthetic Bacteria. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands 2.

Burke CM and Burton HR (1988) Photosynthetic bacteria in meromictic lakes and stratified fjords of the Vestfold Hills, Antarctica. Hydrobiologia 165: 13–23.

Cheirsilp, B., Torpee, S., 2012. Enhanced growth and lipid production of microalgae under mixotrophic culture condition: Effect of light intensity, glucose concentration and fed-batch cultivation. Bioresour. Technol. 110, 510–516.

Chiemchaisri C, Jaitrong L, Honda R, Fukushi K and Yamamoto K. Photosynthetic bacteria pond system with infra-red transmitting filter for the treatment and recovery of organic carbon from industrial waste water. Water Science Technology. 2007; 56: 109–116.

Chitapornpan, S., Chiemchaisri, C., Chiemchaisri, W., Honda, R. and Yamamoto, K. (2012) Photosynthetic bacteria production from food processing wastewater in sequencing batch and membrane photo-bioreactors. Water Science and Technology 65(3), 504-512.

Cohen-Bazire, G., W. R. Sistrom, and R. Y. Stainer. 1957. Kinetic studies of pigment synthesis by non-sulfur purple bacteria. J.Cellular Comp. Physiol. 49:25-68.

Connelly, J. P., Müller, M. G., Bassi, R., Croce, R., Holzwarth, A. R., 1997. Femtosecond transient absorption study of carotenoid to chlorophyll energy transfer in the light-harvesting complex II of photosystem II. Biochem. 36 (2), 281–287.

Feniouk BA, Junge W (2008) Proton translocation and ATP synthesis by the FoF1-ATPase of purple bacteria. In the Purple Phototrophic Bacteria, Hunter CN, Daldal F, Thurnauer MC, Beatty JT (eds), Vol. 24, pp 475–494.

Gordon, J., Polle, J.W., 2007. Ultrahigh bioproductivity from algae. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 76 (5), 969-975.

Harun, K., Inci, E., Ufuk, G., Meral, Y., Lemi, T., 2002. Aspects of the metabolism of hydrogen production by Rhodobacter sphaeroides. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 27 (11–12), 1315–1329.

Hiraishi, A., Yanase, A. and Kitamura, H. (1991) Polyphosphate Accumulation by Rhodobacter sphaeroides Grown under Different Environmental Conditions with Special Emphasis on the Effect of External Phoshate Concentrations. Japanese Society of Microbial ecology 6(1), 25-32.

Holm, H. W., and I. W. Vennes. 1970. Occurrence of purple sulfur bacteria in sewage treatment lagoon. Appl. Microbiol. 19:988-996.

Holt, S. C., and A. G. Marr. 1965. Effect of light intensity on the formation of intracytoplasmic membrane in Rhodlospirillunm rubrum. J. Bacteriol. 89:1421-1429.

Horton, H. R., Moran, L. A., Ochs, R. S., Rawn, D. J., Scrimgeour, K. G., 2003. Principles of biochemistry. Prentice Hall.

Hülsen, T., Batstone, D.J., Keller, J., 2014. Phototrophic bacteria for nutrient recovery from domestic wastewater. Water Res. 50, 18-26.

Hülsen, T., Barry, E.M., Lu, Y., Puyol, D., Keller, J., Batstone, D.J., (2016) Domestic wastewater treatment with purple phototrophic bacteria using a novel continuous photo anaerobic membrane bioreactor. Water Research 100, 486-495.

Hülsen, T., Barry, E., M., Lua, Y., Puyol, D. and Batstone, D., J. (2016) Low temperature treatment of domestic wastewater by purple phototrophic bacteria: performance, activity, and community. Water Research 100, 537-545.

Jorquera, O., Kiperstok, A., Sales, E.A., Embiruçu, M., Ghirardi, M.L., 2010. Comparative energy life-cycle analyses of microalgal biomass production in open ponds and photobioreactors. Bioresour. Technol. 101 (4), 1406-1413.

Kantawanichkul, S., 1990. Application of Hollow Fiber Membrane Bioreactor to Anaerobic Treatment of Oily Wastewater by Photosynthetic Bacteria: Rhodobacter sphaeroides. Ph.D. thesis. AIT, Bangkok, Thailand.

Khatipov, E., Miyake, M., Miyake, J. and Asada, Y. (1998) Accumulation of poly-βhydroxybutyrate by Rhodobacter sphaeroides on various carbon and nitrogen substrates. FEMS Microbiology Letters 162(1), 39-45.

Kiley, P. J., Kaplan, S., 1988. Molecular genetics of photosynthetic membrane biosynthesis in Rhodobacter sphaeroides. Microbiol. Rev. 52 (1), 50–69.

Kim, M.K., Choi, K.-M., Yin, C.-R., Lee, K.-Y., Im, W.-T., Lim, J.H. and Lee, S.-T. (2004) Odorous swine wastewater treatment by purple non-sulfur bacteria, Rhodopseudomonas palustris, isolated from eutrophicated ponds. Biotechnology Letters 26(10), 819-822.

Kim, M. S., Kim, D. H., Cha, J., and Lee, J. K. (2012a). Effect of carbon and nitrogen sources on photofermentative H2 production associated with nitrogenase, uptake hydrogenase activity, and PHB accumulation in Rhodobacter sphaeroides KD131. Bioresour. Technol. 116, 179–183. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2012.04.011.

Kuhlbrandt, W. (1995). Structure and function of bacterial light-harvesting complexes. Structure, 3, 521-525.
Kuo, F.-S., Chien, Y.-H., Chen, C.-J. 2012. Effects of light sources on growth and carotenoid content of photosynthetic bacteria Rhodopseudomonas palustris. Bioresour. Technol. 113(0), 315-318.

Larsdotter, K., 2006. Wastewater treatment with microalgae-a literature review. Vatten 62 (1), 31.

Lu H, Zhang G, Dai X, Schideman L, Zhang Y, Li B, Wang H. 2013. A novel wastewater treatment and biomass cultivation system combining photosynthetic bacteria and membrane bioreactor technology. Desalination. 322:176-181.

Madigan MT and Gest H (1979) Growth of the photosynthetic bacterium Rhodopseudomonas capsulata chemoautotrophically in darkness with H2 as the energy source. J Bacteriol 137: 524–530.

Madigan MT (1998) Isolation and characterization of psychrophilic purple bacteria from Antarctica. In: Peschek GA, Löffelhardt W and Schmetterer G (eds) The Phototrophic Prokaryotes, pp 699–706. Plenum, New York.

Madigan MT, Jung DO, Woese CR and Achenbach LA (2000) Rhodoferax antarcticus sp. nov., a moderately psychrophilic purple nonsulfur bacterium isolated from an Antarctic microbial mat. Arch. Microbiol. 173: 269–277

McKinlay, J.B., Harwood, C.S., 2010. Carbon dioxide fixation as a central redox cofactor recycling mechanism in bacteria. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107 (26), 11669-11675.

Mortensen A. 2006. Carotenoids and other pigments as natural colorants. Pure Appl. Chem. 78 (8):1477-1491.

Munoz, R., Guieysse, B., 2006. Algal-bacterial processes for the treatment of hazardous contaminants: A review. Water Res. 40, 2799–2815.

Nakajima, F., 1996. Factors on uptake of carbon dioxide and variation of cell composition in a recycling process of wastewater utilizing purple non-sulfur bacteria. In: Honda, R., 2005. Organic Wastewater Treatment by a Photosynthetic Pond Process for Tropical Regions and Population Dynamics of Photosynthetic Bacteria in the Pond. Ph.D. thesis. The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan.

Nakajima, F., Kamiko, N., Yamamoto, K., 1997. Organic wastewater treatment without greenhouse gas emission by photosynthetic bacteria. Water Sci. Technol. 35 (8), 285–291.

National-Research-Council, 2012. Sustainable Development of Algal Biofuels in the United States. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC.

Nath, K., Das, D., 2009. Effect of light intensity and initial pH during hydrogen production by an integrated dark and photo-fermentation process. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 34, 7497–7501.

Ogbonna, J. C., Tanaka, H., 2000. Light requirement and photo-synthetic cell cultivation development of processes for efficient light utilization in photobioreactors. J. Appl. Phycol. 12, 207–218.

Pfenning N (1978) Rhodocyclus purpureus gen. nov. and sp. nov., a ring-shaped, vitamin B12requiring member of the family Rhodospirillaceae. Int J Syst Bacteriol 28: 283–288.

Posten, C., 2009. Design principles of photo-bioreactors for cultivation of microalgae. Eng. Life Sci. 9 (3), 165-177.

Prasertsan, P., Choorit, W. and Suwanno, S. (1993) Optimization for growth of Rhodocyclus gelatinosus in seafood processing effluents. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 9(5), 593-596.

Puyol, D., Barry, E., Huelsen, T., Batstone, D.J., 2017. A mechanistic model for anaerobic phototrophs in domestic wastewater applications: photo-anaerobic model (PAnM). Water Research 116, 241-253.

Qu, X. F., Wang, Y. Z., Zhu, X., Liao, Q., Li, J., Ding, Y. D., Lee, D. J., 2011. Bubble behavior and photo-hydrogen production performance of photosynthetic bacteria in microchannel photobioreactor. Int. J Hydrogen Energy 36, 14111–14119.

Rasmuson, A. G., Geisler, D. A., Møller, I. M., 2008. The multiplicity of dehydrogenases in the electron, transport chain of plant mitochondria. Mitochondrion 8, 47–60.

Sasaki K, Watanabe M, Suda Y, Ishizuka A, Noparatnaraporn N. 2005. Applications of Photosynhetic Bacteria for Medical fields. J.Biosci. Bioeng. 100 (5):481-488.

Sasikala K, Ramana ChV, Rao PR (1991b) Environmental regulation for optimal biomass yields and photo production of hydrogen by Rhodobacter sphaeroides O.U.001. Int J Hydrogen Energy 16:597–601.

Shi X., Yu H., 2005. Response surface analysis on the effect of cell concentration and light intensity on hydrogen production by Rhodopseudomonas capsulate, Process Biochem. 40, 2475–2481.

Shoener, B.D., Bradley, I.M., Cusick, R.D., Guest, J.S., 2014. Energy positive domestic wastewater treatment: the roles of anaerobic and phototrophic technologies. Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts 16 (6), 1204 -1222.

Sojka GA (1978) Metabolism of nonaromatic organic compounds. In: Clayton RK and Sistrom WR (eds) The Photosynthetic Bacteria, pp 707–718. Plenum Press, New York.

Somiya, I., Kuriyama, A., Kamaish, I.H., Ono, Y., 1988. The development of anaerobic microbial reactor by purple nonsulfur bacteria for domestic wastewater treatment. In: Present Paper at the Second IAWPRC Asian Conference on Water Pollution Control, Bangkok, Thailand.

Sorokin, C., Krauss, R.W., 1958. The effects of light intensity on the growth rates of green algae. Plant Physiol. 33, 109–113.

Stumm W, Morgan JJ. Aquatic chemistry: an introduction emphasizing chemical equilibria in natural waters. John Wiley; 1981.

Suhaimi, M., Liessens, J., Verstraete, W., 1987. NHþ/4-N assimilation by Rhodobacter capsulatus ATCC 23782 grown axenically and non-axenically in N and C rich media. J. Appl. Microbiol. 62 (1), 53-64.

Takabatake, H., Suzuki, K., Ko, I.-B. and Noike, T. (2004) Characteristics of anaerobic ammonia removal by a mixed culture of hydrogen producing photosynthetic bacteria. Bioresource Technology 95(2), 151-158.

Smith, D., Scott, J., Steele, A., Cody, G., Ohara, S., Fogel, M., 2014. Effects of metabolism and physiology on the production of okenone and bacteriochlorophyll a in purple sulfur bacteria. Geomicrobiol. J. 31, 128–137.

Woodward J, Orr M, Corday K, Greenbaum E (2000) Enzymatic production of biohydrogen. Nature 405:1014–1015.

Zhang, C., Zhang, H., Zhang, Z., Jiao, Y., Zhang, Q., 2014. Effects of mass transfer and light intensity on substrate biological degradation by immobilized photosynthetic bacteria within an annular fiber-illuminating biofilm reactor. J.Photoch. Photobio. B. 131, 113–119.

Zhou Q, Zhang P, Zhang G. 2014. Biomass and carotenoid production in photosynthetic bacteria wastewater treatment: Effect of light intensity. Bioresource. Technol. 171(2014): 330-335.

Chapter 3

Low temperature nutrient removal and recovery from municipal wastewater by purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB)¹

3.1. Introduction

Purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB) are a physiologically versatile group of purple bacteria that can grow under phototrophic conditions as well as in darkness. A variety of PPB were detected in the wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) including *Rba. capsulatus*, *Rps. palustris*, *Rba. sphaeroides*, Rps. acidophila and Rps. crytolactis. Rba. capsulatus is a strain of PPB that can grow under phototrophic conditions with either CO2, organic carbon, or in darkness by respiration, fermentation or chemolithotrophy. *Rba. capsulatus* is probably the most metabolically versatile of all known bacteria (Madigan and gest, 1979). PPB can form dense blooms where the level of sulfide is low or undetectable (Pfenning, 1978a); however, typical PPB can also grow photoautotrophically (anoxic/light) with low levels of sulfide and H₂ as electron donors (Ehrenreich and widdel, 1994; Brune, 1995). PPB are ubiquitous in the natural environment, including wastewater. In a study by Siefert et al., 1978, it was shown that PPB was detected during the activated sludge process. PPB played a minor role compared to heterotrophic bacteria in the activated sludge process, however, PPB can compete with other bacteria in the anaerobic conditions under illumination (Siefert et al., 1978). PPB grow best in media containing readily biodegradable organic compounds such as pyruvate, malate, and ammonia as a source of nitrogen (Sojka, 1978) under phototrophic and anaerobic conditions.

¹This chapter has been submitted for publication in *Bioresource Technol*ogy with the same title authored by Peyman Dalaei, Dang Ho, George Nakhla, Domenico Santoro

PPB are capable of capturing energy in the form of ATP from light using ATP synthase, light harvesting complexes (LH1, LH2) as well as reaction center in the PPB's cell. The light harvesting complexes of PPB are responsible for the light absorption and the transfer of excited electrons to the photosynthetic reaction center where the energy is trapped in an electron transfer reaction (Law et al., 1999). LH2 contains two rings of bacterochlorophyll B800 BChls and B850 BChls which have prominent absorbance at 800 nm and 850 nm respectively. However, LH1 contains B870 BChls with a prominent absorbance at 870 nm (Koepke et al., 1996). PPB exhibit maximum absorption at 800 nm and 850 nm which is related to LH2 and can be measured according to the optical density (OD) test. Temperatures and light intensities are factors which can affect the performance of LH1 and LH2 which in turn can lead to a lower ATP production and consequently, lower removal efficiencies of COD, N and P from the municipal wastewater. PPB have a broad potential in wastewater treatment attributed to the removal of COD through assimilation (Azad et al., 2001), phosphorous uptake by polyphosphate (polyP) formation (Hiraishi et al., 1991), removal of ammonia via assimilation (Takabatake et al., 2000), as well as removal of nitrate through denitrification (Kim et al., 2004). Valuable products can be simultaneously generated such as polyhydroxybutyrate (Khatipov et al., 1998), bio-hydrogen (Wu et al., 2012) and PPB biomass with high potential utilization as animal feed (Kobayashi and Tchan, 1973) as well as organic fertilizers (Xu, 2001).

Most previous studies (Table 3.1) were conducted at room temperature or above, with long hydraulic retention times (HRT). Previously, PPB have been mostly utilized to treat industrial wastewater (Chitapornpan et al., 2012). However, PPB have been recently employed as a new approach in municipal wastewater treatment to enable nutrient recovery by achieving acceptable effluent COD, TN and TP concentrations below discharge limits ($< 50 \text{ mgCODL}^{-1}$, 10 mgNL⁻¹ and 1 mgPL⁻¹) (Hulsen et al., 2016). In the above-mentioned study effluent COD, TN, and TP concentrations from municipal wastewater at room temperature were respectively 24±20 mgL⁻¹, 4.8±2 mgL⁻¹, and 0.24±0.1 mgL⁻¹, corresponding to COD, TN and TP removal efficiencies of 97%, 92%, and 97% with ethanol addition of 392 mgCODL⁻¹. The lowest TCOD effluent concentration of 17±24 mgL⁻¹ was achieved when the photo bioreactor was operated without an external carbon source. The average BOD effluent was below 10mgL⁻¹ (Huslen et al., 2016). Puyol et al., (2017) conducted a series of batch tests using inoculum from the PPB photobioreactor which was operated by Hulsen et al. (2016) to calculate the Monod kinetics. The results of the batch tests with ethanol

showed complete removal of the substrate. Yield coefficient (Y), half velocity constant (K_s), and maximum bacteria growth (μ_{max}) were determined to be 0.63 mgVSS mgCOD⁻¹, 20±4 mgCODL⁻¹, and 1.54 d⁻¹. According to the literature, only one study was carried out to evaluate PPB performance at low temperature (10°C) at HRT of 13 h (Hulsen et al., 2016). Thus, there is a need to address PPB performance at low temperature operating the PHB at HRT of as low as 9 h and to determine Monod kinetics because of the sensitivity of effluent substrate to kinetics at the low SRT (< 3 d) that the photobioreactors typically operate at.

Wastewater	COD	Ν	Р	HRT	Light	PPB	Temperature	References
	removal	removal	removal	(d)	intensity		(°C)	
	(%)	(%)	(%)		(lux/			
					Wm ⁻²⁾			
Noodle	>90	-	-	6-10	-	RP ^a and	-	Chiemchaisri
processing						RB ^b		et al., 2008
ww								
Fish	43	22	-	3-7	1400	RG ^c	32±2	De Lima et al.,
processing					(lux)			2011
ww								
Shrimp-	86	-	-	5	3000	RG ^c	30	Prasetsan et
blanching					(lux)			al., 1993
water and								
tuna								
condensate								
Olive mill WW	33	-	-	-	200	RS ^d	32	Eroglu et al.,
					(Wm ⁻²)			2010
Food	58	-	-	10	270	Mixed	22	Chitapornpan
processing					(Wm ⁻²)			et al., 2012
ww								
Swine WW	50	-	58	6	500-5000	RP ^a	20-50	Kim et al.,
					(lux)			2004
Dairy WW	93	-	-	3	1300	Mixed	22	Kaewsuk et
					(Wm ⁻²)			al., 2010
Municipal	91	81	82	< 1	50	Mixed	22	Hulsen et al.,
ww					(Wm ⁻²)			2016
Municipal	87	77	98	< 1	50	Mixed	10	Hulsen et al.,
ww					(Wm⁻²)			2016

 Table 3.1. Selected literature studies on the application of PPB in wastewater treatment

^a Rhodopseudomonas palustis, ^b Rhodobacter blasticus, ^c Rubrivivax gelatinosus, ^d Rhodobacter

sphaeroides

In this study, the application of PPB for municipal wastewater treatment at low temperature was evaluated by conducting a series of batch tests and continuous-flow membrane photobioreactor experiments. The key objectives are; (a) assessment of PPB performance at low temperature based on photo bioreactor treatment efficiency and key Monod kinetics parameters (b) PPB enrichment and simultaneous removal of soluble biodegradable and inert COD, TN and TP to below target limits of 50, 10, and 1 mgL⁻¹;(c) determination of the optimum HRT at 22°C and 11°C; and (d) comparison of microbial growth at 22°C and 11°C.

3.2. Materials and methods

3.2.1. Raw wastewater

Municipal wastewater was collected from the Greenway treatment plant in London, Ontario and was stored immediately in a cold room at a temperature of 4°C. The wastewater was permitted to settle for a period of 2 hours and was subsequently used as the primary effluent wastewater. The municipal wastewater characteristics are summarized in Table 3.2.

Parameters	T=22°C	T=11°C		
	Values	Values		
TCOD (mg/L)	370 ± 60 (n=35)	540 ± 20 (n=16)		
SCOD (mg/L)	200 ± 50 (n=35)	290 ± 30 (n=16)		
TSS (mg/L)	160 ± 30 (n=35)	240 ± 20 (n=16)		
VSS (mg/L)	110 ± 22 (n=35)	160 ± 20 (n=16)		
TN (mg/L)	48 ± 11 (n=35)	56 ± 7 (n=16)		
TKN (mg/L)	47 ± 11 (n=35)	55 ± 7 (n=16)		
NH4-N (mg/L)	34 ± 11 (n=35)	39 ± 8 (n=16)		
NOx(mg/L)	0.78 ± 0.3 (n=35)	0.88 ± 0.2 (n=16)		
TP (mg/L)	6.6 ± 2 (n=35)	8.2 ± 1 (n=16)		
SP (mg/L)	3.7 ± 1.5 (n=13)	4.3 ± 0.6 (n=16)		

Table 3.2. Municipal wastewater characteristics

3.2.2. PPB enrichment

PPB enrichment was carried out using a series of fed-batch tests at room temperature. Raw municipal wastewater was anaerobically illuminated at the IR light intensity of 50 Wm⁻². The influent SCOD, NH₄, and PO₄ concentrations were 410 mg/L, 29.3 mg/L, and 3.9 mg/L respectively. Ethanol was dosed at 100 mgCOD/L as an external carbon source. The batch tests were conducted using two bottles with a working volume of 250 mL. The bottles were continuously mixed at 100 rpm. The samples were allowed to settle for 2 hours on days 4, 8, 12 16, and 20, 200 mL of the supernatant were discarded and replaced with 200 mL fresh raw wastewater that were added to the 50 mL PPB inoculum which remained in the bottles after the settlement period. The SCOD, NH₄, and PO₄ concentrations were measured every 4 days to evaluate the PPB growth and COD, N, and P removal from the municipal wastewater.

3.2.3. Anaerobic membrane photobioreactor configuration and operation

As shown below in Figure 3.1, a 2 L rectangular acrylic photobioreactor (Hulsen et al., 2016) with a submerged flat sheet membrane (Kubota submerged membrane made from polyolefin) consisting of 0.12 m² surface area and 0.45 μ m pore size was illuminated under infrared LED lamps at 50 Wm⁻² (96 IR LED for Night Vision Camera). The maximum operating flux of the membrane was 1.9 L/m²h¹. The height, length and width of the photobioreactor were 40, 34, and 2 cm respectively. The photobioreactor was continuously mixed with internal gas from the headspace of the reactor using a vacuum pump (Cole Parmer, Air Cadet, R-K 07530-85). The air is carried through the vacuum pump to the reactor via a diffuser (Magi Deal Fish Tank Pond Pump Air Stone Bubble Disk Tube Aerator Aquarium- 12 inch) placed at the bottom of the reactor. The reactor was fed with raw wastewater (primary effluent) using a peristaltic pump (Cole Parmer, 7520-67 Masterflex Console Drive Peristaltic pump).



Figure 3.1. Photobioreactor (PHB) configuration

In period 1, the photobioreactor was started using a 200 mL PPB inoculum from the fed-batch tests at 22°C and at the IR light intensity of 50 Wm⁻² (same conditions as in period 1). Similar batch tests were carried out using a refrigerator at 11°C to enrich the PPB inoculum for period 7, where the PHB was operated at 11°C. These fed-batch tests were conducted for the duration of 3 weeks (Appendix A).

The average photobioreactor temperature and pH were respectively 22°C and 7.2 during this entire experimentation phase (6 periods). Experimental analysis was conducted once every three days.

The sludge withdrawal was collected from the bottom of the photobioreactor to control sludge retention time (SRT). The PHB was opened three times, on day 78, 117 and 147 to remove the PPB biofilm from the membrane and the reactor's walls to minimize the biological impact of the PPB biofilm formed on the membrane. COD, nitrogen, and phosphorous steady state mass balances were evaluated at an SRT of 3 days. The mass balance was calculated according to equation 1.

$$Mass closure (\%) = \frac{Effluent conc (mgL^{-1}) . Effluent volume (Ld^{-1}) + Sludge conc (mgL^{-1}) . Sludge volume (Ld^{-1})}{Influent conc (mgL^{-1}) . Influent volume (Ld^{-1})}$$
(1)

A summary of PPB operating conditions is shown in Table 3.3. In period 1 (day 1-18), HRT was set to 36 h with no biomass withdrawal and without the addition of ethanol. Ethanol was dosed at 290 \pm 30 (mgCODL⁻¹) in period 2 (day 18-27) when HRT was 36 h with no biomass withdrawal. In period 3 (day 27-57), HRT and SRT were adjusted respectively to 18 h and 3 d without the addition of an external carbon source. HRT and SRT were maintained at 18 h and 3 d in period 4 (day 57-78) and ethanol was added to the reactor at a concentration of 285 \pm 40 (mgCODL⁻¹). In period 5 (day 78-102) when ethanol was withdrawn, HRT decreased to 9 h while SRT was maintained at 3 d. Ethanol was dosed at 310 \pm 20 (mgCODL⁻¹) in period 6 (day 102-117) where HRT and SRT were maintained at 9 h and 3 d respectively.

Period	HRT (h)	SRT (d)	Ethanol (mg/L)	Temp (°C)	
Period 1	26			22	
Day 0-18	50	_	_	~~~	
Period 2	36	_	200	22	
Day 18-27	50		250	~~~	
Period 3	19	2		22	
Day 27-57	10	5		~~~	
Period 4	10	2	205	22	
Day 57-78	10	5	285		
Period 5					
Day 78-	9	3	-	22	
102					
Period 6					
Day 102-	9	3	310	22	
117					
Period 7					
Day 117-	36	3	400	11	
132					
Period 8					
Day 132-	18	3	300	11	
147					
Period 9					
Day 147-	9	3	300	11	
165					

Table 3.3. Summary of operational parameters

Following the optimization of the HRT, the PHB was used to investigate performance at low temperature while maintaining the optimum HRT at 9 h. As shown in Table 3, the PHB was operated at 11°C for periods 7-9. A refrigerated recirculating water bath was employed in order to

maintain the PHB temperature at $11\pm1^{\circ}$ C (PolyScience MX 7L Refrigerated Bath Circulator). The PHB's temperature was measured on a daily basis. The PHB's pH level remained constant at 7.3 throughout the experiment. The PPB inoculum for the continuous-flow PHB was grown in a batch test at the same temperature as the reactor ($11\pm1^{\circ}$ C). The PHB was operated at three different HRTs (36 h, 18 h and 9 h) while the SRT was controlled at 3 d in each period.

3.2.4. Analytical methods

Various water quality parameters were continuously measured for influent and effluent samples. Total chemical oxygen demand (TCOD), soluble chemical oxygen demand (SCOD) were measured using HACH methods (HACH Odyssey DR 2800). Total and soluble phosphorous, total nitrogen and total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN) were determined using HACH methods. Total suspended solids (TSS) and volatile suspended solids (VSS) were determined by drying at 105°C for 2 hours and at 550°C for 20 minutes respectively following standard methods (APHA, 1998). All soluble samples were obtained by filtration through a 0.45 µm pore size (GN Metricel, Membrane Disc Filters, Pall Laboratory).

3.2.5. Microbial growth

The wavelength scan (optical density) test was employed during periods 4 and 8 at temperatures of 22°C and 11°C to provide insight into PPB enrichment. This analysis was conducted using DR 3900 spectrophotometer to show the absorbance behaviour of the PHB samples and adaptation to PPB strains. The profile of absorption spectra in most PPB follow a specific trend with three peaks near infrared region at 800 nm and 860 nm and at 590 nm due to the presence of bacteriochlorophyll pigments and two peaks at 460 nm and 488 nm due to the presence of carotenoid pigments in PPB's cell.

Light harvesting complexes (LH1 and LH2) play a significant role in the absorption of light and energy in the PPB structure. LH1 exists in all PPB while most PPB species contain LH2. LH2 absorbs a higher level of energy compared to LH1; consequently, the absorption profile of LH2 is crucial in determining which wavelength has the highest absorbance near infrared regions. *Rps. palustris*, *Rps. cryptolactis*, *Rba. capsulatus* and *Rps acidophila* are PPB species that contain both LH1 and LH2 which are mainly made by bacteriochlorophyll a. The spectrum of the two major bands in the highest absorption range for *Rps. cryptolactis* are 803nm and 858nm with the ratio of optical density at 858 nm which is typically 1.2 times that at 803 nm. *Rps. acidophila* peaks are at 801nm and 856nm with the ratio of optical density at 856 nm which is typically 1.3 times that at 801 nm. The spectrum of the two major bands in the highest absorption for *Rba. capsulatus* and *Rps. palustris* are respectively at 802 nm and 859 nm as well as 803 nm and 853 nm (Georgakopoulou et al., 2002).

3.2.6. Monod kinetic model

...

~ • •

The Monod model was used to determine the PPB kinetics. In order to simulate this model, MATLAB (MATLAB R2017a, The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA) was used to determine the parameters μ_{max} , K_s, K and K_d using nonlinear curve fitting (lsqcurvefit). A system of differential equations (equations 2, and 3) with variables (X(t) and S(t)) and parameters (μ_{max} , K_s, K and K_d) was solved using ODE45. The curve fitting method was used to evaluate the best fit of parameters to Monod equations considering the experimental data X(t) and S(t) which were measured at time intervals of 1 h using batch tests at both 22°C and 11°C.

According to the model, substrate (S) and cell (X) concentrations were determined by solving the differential equations using ODE45 based on estimated Monod parameters and the initial substrate and cell concentrations at time zero.

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = \frac{\mu_{max} SX}{K_S + S} - K_d X$$
(2)
$$dS = 1 \ \mu_{max} SX$$
(2)

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = \frac{1}{Y} \frac{\mu_{\text{max}} S X}{K_{\text{S}} + S}$$
(3)

The batch tests were conducted to model Monod kinetics using 50 mL PPB inoculum from PHB at HRT of 9 h (periods 6 and 9) that was mixed with 150mL fresh wastewater. Ethanol was dosed at 100 mgCODL⁻¹. 10 mL samples were collected hourly for a period of ten hours to measure the COD and VSS concentrations. The initial COD, N, and P concentrations of the wastewater and inoculum are summarized in Table 3.4.

	Batch tes	ts at 22°C	Batch tests at 11°C					
Parameters	Wastewater (150	PPB inoculum (50	Wastewater (150	PPB inoculum (50				
	mL)	mL)	mL)	mL)				
TCOD (mg/L)	365	1350	405	1040				
SCOD (mg/L)	160	44	189	61				
TN (mg/L)	42.4	85	43.2	69.6				
NH4 (mg/L)	30	4.2	32	5.9				
PO4 (mg/L)	3.2	0.75	3.4	0.88				
TP (mg/L)	7.28	16.8	7.7	10.8				
Ethanol (mgCOD/L)	100							
Total volume (mL)	20	00	200					

Table 3.4. COD, N, and P concentration of the inoculum and fresh wastewater

3.3. Results and discussion

3.3.1. PPB enrichment

The SCOD, NH₄, and PO₄ removal efficiencies on day 8 were 12%, 9%, and 15% respectively. The low removal efficiencies were due to the inadequate PPB culture. Based on Figure 3.2, the effluent SCOD, NH₄, and PO₄ concentrations on day 20 were 133, 10, and 0.9 mgL⁻¹ respectively, corresponding to the SCOD, NH₄, and PO₄ removal efficiencies of 68%, 65%, and 77%. The increase in the SCOD, N, and P removal efficiencies during days 8-20 showed the simultaneous PPB growth and substrate removal from municipal wastewater.



Figure 3.2. The SCOD, NH₄, and PO₄ concentrations in fed-batch tests

3.3.2. Photobioreactor operation and optimization at 22°C

The photobioreactor (PHB) effluent TCOD, TN, and TP concentrations are summarized in Table 3.5. Target effluent COD, TN, and TP concentrations were set at 50,10, and 1 mgL⁻¹ respectively, typical of biological nutrient removal plants. Based on the typical range of soluble inert COD in raw municipal wastewater of 5%-10% of TCOD ASM2 (Henze et al.,1995), using an average fraction of 10% or 37 mgCODL⁻¹, effluent soluble BOD₅ is estimated at mgL⁻¹.

	TCOD	TN	TP	NH4	Nox	MLSS	MLVSS	
Periods	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	n ^a
1	190±35	37±5	1.5±0.4	29±7	0.5±0.06	1270±400	1080±370	6
2	70±10	8±9	0.9±0.1	2±1	0.3±0.06	1630±130	1390±110	3
3	44±5	30±6	1.3±0.3	25±7	0.3±0.08	710±60	630±60	10
4	46±2	5±1	0.8±0.1	3±1	0.2±0.05	850±50	710±35	10
5	44±2	30±2	1.3±0.1	24±5	0.3±0.04	1300±30	1090±35	8
6	46±3	5±1	0.6±0.2	3±1	0.2±0.07	1420±25	1180±25	7

Table 3.5. Startup (periods 1 and 2) and steady-state (periods 3,4,5, and 6) effluent characteristics (values in mgL⁻¹)

^a Values represent average ± standard deviation, and n is the number of samples

Period 1:

The PHB TCOD, TN, and TP removal efficiencies are demonstrated in Figure 3.3. During the start-up (18 days), HRT was set to 36 hours and PHB worked without biomass withdrawal. This period was utilized to provide the PPB with the desirable conditions (anaerobic phototrophic conditions) that led to the rapid growth and color change of PPB to purple. TCOD and TN removal efficiencies fluctuated due to the inadequate PPB biomass with average TCOD and TN concentrations of 190 mgL⁻¹ and 37 mgL⁻¹, while the average effluent phosphorous concentration was 1.5 mgL⁻¹ (corresponding to 82% TP removal efficiency).

Period 2:

During this period, ethanol was dosed at 290 mgCODL⁻¹ as the external carbon source. Higher removal efficiencies (89% TCOD, 91% TN and 89% TP) were achieved as a result of the adequate PPB biomass and ethanol dosage. The effluent concentrations of TN and TP were respectively 8 mgL⁻¹ and 0.9 mgL⁻¹ which met the target limits (< 10 mgNL⁻¹ and 1 mgPL⁻¹) and the average effluent TCOD concentration decreased to 70 mgL⁻¹.

Period 3:

Once the ethanol was withdrawn and HRT as well as SRT were set to 18 hours and 3 days respectively, the effluent nitrogen considerably increased to 30 mgL⁻¹ due to the lack of carbon, meanwhile, effluent phosphorous slightly rose to 1.3 mgL⁻¹ (corresponding to 81% TP removal efficiency). The average effluent TCOD concentration was 53 mgL⁻¹ corresponding to TCOD removal efficiency of 86%. However, the high effluent nitrogen concentration showed the need for supplementing the soluble COD in order to achieve the required target limit for the effluent nitrogen concentration.

Period 4:

HRT and SRT were maintained at 18 hours and 3 days respectively and the ethanol was dosed at 285 mgCODL⁻¹. PPB performance immediately improved when ethanol was added to the PHB, especially for nitrogen removal. The TCOD, TN, and TP effluent concentrations were respectively 49 mgL⁻¹, 5.5 mgL⁻¹ and 0.8 mgL⁻¹, corresponding to TCOD, TN, TP removal efficiencies of 92%, 86%, and 84% respectively.

Period 5:

When the HRT decreased from 18 to 9 hours, the SRT was maintained at 3 days, and the ethanol was withdrawn, the PHB performance was similar to period 3. The average TCOD, TN and TP effluent concentrations were respectively 46 mgL⁻¹, 29 mgL⁻¹ and 1.3 mgL⁻¹, corresponding to TCOD, TN, TP removal efficiencies of 89%, 40%, and 83% respectively.

Period 6:

HRT and SRT were kept respectively at 9 hours and 3 days, ethanol was added to the photobioreactor at a dose of 310 mgCODL⁻¹. The average effluent COD, N and P remained below the target limits (46 mgCODL⁻¹, 5.9 mgNL⁻¹ and 0.6 mgPL⁻¹) corresponding to TCOD, TN, and TP removal efficiencies of 93%, 86% and 88% respectively. The high efficiency of this period indicated that within the range of 9 h to 36 h, the optimum HRT is 9 hours.



Figure 3.3. TCOD (a), TN, and TP (b) removal efficiencies versus time

Influent and effluent COD, N, and P concentrations are displayed in Figures 3.4, 3.5, and 3.6 respectively. In periods 4, and 6, when the PHB was operated with enough carbon, effluent NH_4 , and NO_x concentrations were respectively $3\pm 1 \text{ (mgL}^{-1)}$ and $0.18 \text{ (mgL}^{-1)}$ corresponding to the ammonia removal efficiency of 89%. Therefore, there is no nitrification and N, and P are only

removed by biomass synthesis. It is important to note that when the external carbon source was withdrawn, the ammonia removal efficiency significantly decreased to 36%.



Figure 3.4. Influent and effluent COD concentrations at 22°C



Figure 3.5. Influent and effluent N concentrations at 22°C



Figure 3.6. Influent and effluent P concentrations at 22°C

Steady state mass balances at HRTs of 18 h (periods 3 and 4) and 9 h (periods 5 and 6) respectively showed COD mass closure of $88\%\pm5\%$ and $84\%\pm3\%$, TN mass closure of $88\%\pm6\%$ and $82\%\pm3\%$ as well as TP mass closure of $85\%\pm4\%$ and $80\%\pm1\%$. COD: N: P uptake ratio was 100: 6.1 ± 0.8 : 1.3 ± 0.4 . The average COD, nitrogen and phosphorous contents of the PPB biomass as a percentage of dry organic weight were respectively $163\%\pm8\%$, $10.7\%\pm0.5\%$, and $2\%\pm0.1\%$. The average VSS to TSS ratio was 83%. Hulsen et al. (2016) showed that the average COD: N: P ratio for PPB of 100: 6: 1. By comparison with the above-mentioned nutrients uptake, the nitrogen content of PPB is consistent with Hulsen et al. (2016) while P uptake is 30% higher than average.

3.3.3. Municipal wastewater treatment with PPB at 11°C

The PHB effluent characteristics throughout the 48 days of operation at 11°C are summarized in Table 3.6 while the temporal variations for COD, N, and P are depicted in Figures 3.7, 3.8, and 3.9 respectively. The average removal efficiencies of TCOD, TN, and TP were respectively 93%, 88% and 91% during the first 30 days (period 1 and 2), when the HRTs were 36 h and 18 h. Effluent TCOD, TN, and TP concentrations slightly increased when the HRT was reduced to 9 h with removal efficiencies of 91%, 80% and 80% respectively. Effluent TCOD concentrations were slightly more than the target limit during periods 7, 8, and 9, whereas effluent TN and TP concentrations were for period 3. Steady state mass balance for periods 8, and 9 demonstrated TCOD, TN, and TP recoveries of 80% \pm 2%, 83% \pm 1%, and 86% \pm 2% respectively.

Doriodo	TCOD	TN	TP	NH4	Nox	MLSS	MLVSS	29
Perious	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	11-
7	62±1	7±1	0.6±0.1	4±1	0.4±0.08	440±25	360±20	6
8	63±2	7±1	0.7±0.1	4±1	0.4±0.07	715±30	600±20	5
9	70±2	10±1	1.2±0.1	6±1	0.5±0.08	1260±45	1040±30	6

Table 3.6. Steady state effluent characteristics at 11°C

^a Values represent average ± standard deviation, and n is the number of samples



Figure 3.7. Influent and effluent COD concentrations at 11°C



Figure 3.8. Influent and effluent N concentrations at 11°C



Figure 3.9. Influent and effluent P concentrations at 11°C

3.3.4. Microbial growth

The results of OD tests at 22°C and 11°C showed three peaks at 590 nm, 800, and 860 nm (bacteriochlorophyll) and two peaks at 460 nm, and 488 nm (carotenoid) which are depicted in Figure 3.10. During periods 4, and 8 where the PHB was operated at HRT of 18 h and SRT of 3 d, the optical density was measured at 22°C (ethanol dose of 285 mgCODL⁻¹) in period 4 and at 11°C (ethanol dose of 300 mgCODL⁻¹) in period 8. The optical density (OD) test results of samples taken from the PHB in both periods 4 and 8 demonstrated two peaks at 800 nm and 860 nm with the ratio of 1.2 $\frac{OD \text{ at } 858 \text{ nm}}{OD \text{ at } 800 \text{ nm}}$. These results are in consistence with PPB absorption characteristics which exhibit a similar trend with peaks at approximately 800 nm and 860 nm with the ratio between 1.1 and 1.4 $\frac{OD \text{ at } 858 \text{ nm}}{OD \text{ at } 800 \text{ nm}}$. These two peaks confirm the presence of bacteriochlorophyll pigments (B800, and B850) in PPB, known as LH2. The ratio of OD (850 nm) and OD (800 nm)

depends on light intensity and temperature, since both of these factors can affect light harvesting complexes (LH1 and LH2) of PPB.



Figure 3.10. PPB wavelength scan (full-spectrum OD) test at 22°C and 11°C

3.3.5. Monod kinetic model

Monod kinetics parameters in the batch tests were determined by using nonlinear curve-fitting (lsqcurvefit) of the experimental data (X and S) in Matlab (MATLAB R2017a, The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA). K_s, K, Y, and K_d at 22°C were determined to be 20 ± 2 mgCODL⁻¹, 1.9 ± 0.2 mgCOD(mgVSSd)⁻¹, 0.47 ± 0.05 mgVSS mgCOD⁻¹, and 0.07 ± 0.01 d⁻¹ respectively. According to Figure 3.11, the average percentages of the discrepancy between experimental data and Monod fit for substrate (S) removal and cell (X) growth were 15% and 1.4% respectively, demonstrating the accuracy of the model parameters.



Figure 3.11. Monod fit and experimental data for substrate removal (a) and cell growth (b) at $22^\circ C$

According to equation 4, the effluent substrate concentration in a continuous-flow reactor is the function of SRT, K_s , K_d , K and Y. The PHB effluent substrate concentration using the abovementioned kinetic parameters was calculated to be 17 mgCODL⁻¹ based on equation (4), while experimental analysis showed the average effluent of 45 mgCODL⁻¹. The soluble microbial products (SMPs) was estimated to be 15 mgCODL⁻¹ using equations 5, and 6 (Rittmann et al., 1987). It must be asserted that although the biokinetics of aerobic and anaerobic systems are very different, the findings of Rittmann et al. (1987) suggest that the kinetic parameters for SMPs i.e. K_1 , K_2 , K_{3m} are similar to both aerobic and anaerobic systems. This analysis indicated that the concentration of inert soluble COD in the wastewater collected from the Greenway treatment plant is 13 mgCODL⁻¹ consistent with Gupta et al. (2018) who observed an inert soluble COD of 14 mgCODL⁻¹ in the same wastewater.

$$S = \frac{K_{s} (1 + K_{d} . SRT)}{SRT (\mu_{max} - K_{d}) - 1}$$
(4)

$$P = \frac{P_0}{1 + \frac{K_{3m} \cdot X_a \cdot \Theta_c}{P_0}}$$
(5)

$$P_0 = -K_1 (S_0 - S) + K_2 X_a \Theta_c$$
(6)

Where, S₀, and S are influent and effluent soluble substrates respectively (mg/L), P₀ is the total SMP concentration if no SMP degradation occurs (mg/L), Θ_c is sludge retention time (d), X_a is MLVSS (mg/L), K₁ = 0.18 gCOD_{products}/gCOD, K₂ = 0.2 gCOD_{product}/gVSS.d, and K_{3M} = 5 gCOD_{products}/gVSS.d.

 K_s , K, Y, and K_d were determined to be 29±2 mgCODL⁻¹, 1.6±0.2 mgCOD(mgVSSd)⁻¹, 0.47±0.07 mgVSS mgCOD⁻¹, and 0.08±0.01 d⁻¹ respectively at 11°C. According to the Monod parameters, theoretical cell growth and substrate removal equations are depicted in Figure 3.12. The average percentages of the discrepancy between experimental data and Monod fit for substrate (S) removal and cell (X) growth were 4.9% and 2.2% respectively (Figure 3.12).



Figure 3.12. Monod fit and experimental data for substrate removal (a) and cell growth (b) at $11^\circ C$

The average biomass yields in the PHB at 22°C and 11°C determined from the plot of cumulative VSS produced versus cumulative COD removed which were 0.56 mgVSS mgCOD⁻¹ and 0.51 mgVSS mgCOD⁻¹ respectively, consistent with the 0.47 mgVSS mgCOD⁻¹ derived from the Monod model.

Table 3.7 summarizes the PPB kinetic parameters simulated in MATLAB. By comparison with activated sludge ASM2 (Henze et al.,1995) parameters, it appears that while K_s of PPB of 20-29 mgCODL⁻¹ appears to be in the range of the 10-60 mgCODL⁻¹ for activated sludge, both K and μ_{max} for the anaerobic PPB are significantly lower than for the activated sludge. Using the abovementioned PHB yields, the estimated substrate concentration ranges from 16 to 35 mgCODL⁻¹ corresponding to 10 to 22 mgBOD₅L⁻¹. By comparison, the PPB kinetics reported by Puyol et al. (2017) would result in effluent BOD₅ concentration of 5 mgL⁻¹. It should be noted however, that the biomass yield of 0.63 gVSS gCOD⁻¹ and the COD of PPB of 1.78 mgCOD mgVSS⁻¹ reported by Puyol et al. (2017) would translate to 1.12 mgCOD_{biomass} mgCOD_{subs}, which is atypically high.

Bacteria	Temperature (°C)	Ks (mgCOD/L)	K (mgCOD/mgVSSd)	Y (mgVSS/mgCOD)	μ _{max} (1/d)	Kd (1/d)	References
PPB	22	20	1.9	0.47	0.89	0.07	
PPB	11	29	1.6	0.47	0.75	0.08	This study
РРВ	22	20	2.4	0.63	1.54	0.09	Puyol et al., 2017

 Table 3.7. Summary of PPB kinetics parameters (Municipal wastewater)

3.4. Conclusions

The application of purple phototrophic bacteria in a photobioreactor at 22°C and 11°C offers the possibility of achieving high simultaneous removal and recovery of COD, N, and P by PPB in both moderate and cold climate regions. The results of this research are summarized as follows:

1. PPB performance at 11°C was comparable to 22°C, achieving high COD, N, and P removal efficiencies from municipal wastewater.

- 2. The optimum HRT for COD, N and P removal was 9 hours at both temperatures.
- 3. High phosphorous removal, without the addition of an external carbon source was achieved with an average effluent concentration of 1.3mgL⁻¹. Thus, PPB can be used with chemical polishing to achieve <1 mgTPL⁻¹.
- Monod Kinetic parameters K_s, K, Y, and K_d were determined to be 20-29 mgCODL⁻¹, 1.6-1.9 mgCOD(mgVSS.d)⁻¹, 0.47 mgVSS mgCOD⁻¹, and 0.07-0.08 d⁻¹ at temperatures 11°C-22°C.
- 5. Based on Monod kinetics, it appears that the effluent soluble BOD₅ are 10-22 mgL⁻¹ which are higher than the estimated BOD₅ of less than 10 mgL⁻¹ reported in the literature.

3.5. References

American Public Health Association (APHA) (1998). Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. 20th ed. Washington, D. C: American Water Works Association (AWWA), Water Environment Federation (WEF).

Azad, S., Vikineswary, S., Ramachandran, K. and Chong, V. (2001) Growth and production of biomass of Rhodovulum sulfidophilum in sardine processing wastewater. Letters in applied microbiology 33(4), 264-268.

Brune DC (1995) Sulfur compounds as photosynthetic electron donors. In: Blankenship RE, Madigan MT and Bauer CE (eds) Anoxygenic Photosynthetic Bacteria (Advances in Photosynthesis and Respiration, Vol 2), pp 847–870. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.

Chiemchaisri C, Jaitrong L, Honda R, Fukushi K and Yamamoto K. Photosynthetic bacteria pond system with infra-red transmitting filter for the treatment and recovery of organic carbon from industrial waste water. Water Science Technology. 2007; 56: 109–116.

Chitapornpan, S., Chiemchaisri, C., Chiemchaisri, W., Honda, R. and Yamamoto, K. (2012) Photosynthetic bacteria production from food processing wastewater in sequencing batch and membrane photo-bioreactors. Water Science and Technology 65(3), 504-512.

de Lima, L., Ponsano, E. and Pinto, M. (2011) Cultivation of Rubrivivax gelatinosus in fish industry effluent for depollution and biomass production. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 27(11), 2553-2558.

Ehrenreich A and Widdel F (1994) Anaerobic oxidation of ferrous iron by purple bacteria, a new type of phototrophic metabolism. Appl Env Microbiol 60: 4517–4526

Eroglu, E., Gunduz, U., Yucel, M. and Eroglu, I. (2010) Photosynthetic bacterial growth and productivity under continuous illumination or diurnal cycles with olive mill wastewater as feedstock. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy 35(11), 5293-5300.

Georgakopoulou S, Frese RN, Johnson E, Koolhaas C, Cogdell RJ, van Grondelle R and van der Zwan G (2002) Absorption and CD spectroscopy and modeling of various LH2 complexes from purple bacteria. Biophys J 82: 2184–2197.

Gupta, Medhavi, "Microsieving as a Primary Treatment for Biological Nitrogen Removal from Municipal Wastewater" (2018). Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. 5288.

Henze, M., Gujer, W., Mino, T., Matsuo, T., Wentzel, M.C.M., Marais, G.V.R., 1995. Activated Sludge Model No. 2. IWA Scientific and Technical Report No. 3, London, UK.

Hiraishi, A., Yanase, A. and Kitamura, H. (1991) Polyphosphate Accumulation by Rhodobacter sphaeroides Grown under Different Environmental Conditions with Special Emphasis on the Effect of External Phoshate Concentrations. Japanese Society of Microbial ecology 6(1), 25-32.

Hülsen, T., Barry, E.M., Lu, Y., Puyol, D., Keller, J., Batstone, D.J., (2016) Domestic wastewater treatment with purple phototrophic bacteria using a novel continuous photo anaerobic membrane bioreactor. Water Research 100, 486-495.

Hülsen, T., Barry, E., M., Lua, Y., Puyol, D. and Batstone, D., J. (2016) Low temperature treatment of domestic wastewater by purple phototrophic bacteria: performance, activity, and community. Water Research 100, 537-545.

Khatipov, E., Miyake, M., Miyake, J. and Asada, Y. (1998) Accumulation of poly-βhydroxybutyrate by Rhodobacter sphaeroides on various carbon and nitrogen substrates. FEMS Microbiology Letters 162(1), 39-45.

Kim, M.K., Choi, K.-M., Yin, C.-R., Lee, K.-Y., Im, W.-T., Lim, J.H. and Lee, S.-T. (2004) Odorous swine wastewater treatment by purple non-sulfur bacteria, Rhodopseudomonas palustris, isolated from eutrophicated ponds. Biotechnology Letters 26(10), 819-822.

Kobayashi, M. and Tchan, Y.T. (1973) Treatment of industrial waste solutions and production of useful by-products using a photosynthetic bacterial method. Water Research 7(8), 1219-1224.

Koepke, J., Hu, X., Muenke, C., Schulten, K. and Michel, H. (1996) The crystal structure of the light-harvesting complex II (B800–850) from Rhodospirillum molischianum. Structure 4: 581–597.

Law C J. Structure and function studies on the LH1-RC core complex from a range of photosynthetic purple bacteria. Ph.D. thesis. Glasgow, United Kingdom: University of Glasgow; 1999.

Madigan MT and Gest H (1979) Growth of the photosynthetic bacterium Rhodopseudomonas capsulata chemoautotrophically in darkness with H2 as the energy source. J Bacteriol 137: 524–530.

Pfenning N (1978) Rhodocyclus purpureus gen. nov. and sp. nov., a ring-shaped, vitamin B12requiring member of the family Rhodospirillaceae. Int J Syst Bacteriol 28: 283–288.

Prasertsan, P., Choorit, W. and Suwanno, S. (1993) Optimization for growth of Rhodocyclus gelatinosus in seafood processing effluents. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 9(5), 593-596.

Puyol, D., Barry, E., Huelsen, T., Batstone, D.J., 2017. A mechanistic model for anaerobic phototrophs in domestic wastewater applications: photo-anaerobic model (PAnM). Water Research 116, 241-253.

Rittmann, B.E., W. Bae, E. Namkung, and C.-J. Lu, A critical evaluation of microbial product formation in biological processes. Water Science and Technology, 19(Rio), pp. 517-528 (1987).

Siefert E, Irgens RL and Pfennig N (1978) Phototrophic purple and green bacteria in a sewage treatment plant. Appl Environ Microbiol 35: 38-44.

Sojka GA (1978) Metabolism of nonaromatic organic compounds. In: Clayton RK and Sistrom WR (eds) The Photosynthetic Bacteria, pp 707–718. Plenum Press, New York.

Takabatake, H., Suzuki, K., Ko, I.-B. and Noike, T. (2004) Characteristics of anaerobic ammonia removal by a mixed culture of hydrogen producing photosynthetic bacteria. Bioresource Technology 95(2), 151-158.

Wu, T.Y., Hay, J.X.W., Kong, L.B., Juan, J.C. and Jahim, J.M. (2012) Recent advances in reuse of waste material as substrate to produce biohydrogen by purple non-sulfur (PNS) bacteria. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 16(5), 3117-3122.

57

Chapter 4

The effect of low light intensity on purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB) performance for municipal wastewater treatment¹

4.1. Introduction

PPB have a high potential in wastewater treatment due to the removal of chemical oxygen demand (COD) and ammonia through assimilation (Azad et al., 2001; Takabatake et al., 2000), phosphorous uptake by polyphosphate (polyP) formation (Hiraishi et al., 1991), as well as nitrate removal through denitrification (Kim et al., 2004). In order to prove the capability of the purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB) for simultaneous removal of chemical oxygen demand (COD), nitrogen (N), and phosphorous (P) from municipal wastewater, Hulsen et al. (2016) operated a long-term laboratory scale photobioreactor at infrared (IR) light intensity of 50 Wm⁻². It was also suggested that the photobioreactor's (PHB) operation at IR intensity of 20 Wm⁻² is possible, which would considerably reduce the PPB operational costs (Hulsen et al., 2017).

Only a few studies using defined PPB culture and artificial wastewater were carried out in batch tests to evaluate the PPB performance at low light intensity ($< 20 \text{ Wm}^{-2}$) (Kim et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2014; Prasetsan et al., 1993). However, a continuous-flow photobioreactor using mixed PPB culture and real wastewater must be used in order to evaluate the effect of the low light intensity on PPB performance in wastewater treatment. A series of the batch tests were conducted by Kim et al. (2004), to evaluate the organic acid removal by a PPB strain (*Rhodopseudomonas palustris*) at different light intensities of 8-40 Wm⁻² to achieve the optimum light intensity. The optimum light intensity was at 4 klux (32 Wm⁻²) for the removal of organic acids (acetic acid, propionic acid, isobutyric acid, butyric acid, isovaleric acid, valeric acid, and caproic acid) by *Rhodopseudomonas palustris*.

¹ This chapter is in preparation to submit for publication in *Bioresource Technology* with the same title authored by Peyman Dalaei, Dang Ho, George Nakhla, Domenico Santoro

Zhou et al. (2014) demonstrated that the optimum light intensity for PPB biomass production and COD removal is 2 klux (16 Wm⁻²) using a series of batch tests at different light intensities of 0.5, 1, 2, 4, and 8 klux which equate to 4, 8, 16, 32, and 64 Wm⁻². It was noted that the COD removal efficiency decreased with the higher light intensity than 5 klux (40 Wm^{-2}) which was due to PPB's light inhibition (Zhang et al., 2014; Qu et al., 2011). Prasetsan et al. (1993) indicated that the optimum light intensity for the growth of *Rhodocyclus gelatinosus* (PPB stain) and COD removal from diluted tuna condensate wastewater was 24 Wm⁻² using batch cultivation tests at 30°C.

The amount of bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid pigments produced by purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB) directly affects the PPB's obtained energy and its growth (Kue et al., 2012). The quantity of these pigments varies based on different light intensities. Holt and Marr, (1965) demonstrated that *Rhodospirillum rubrum* grown at low infrared (IR) light contained more bacteriochlorophyll than PPB grown at high light intensity. PPB can adapt to low light intensity by an increase in the bacteriochlorophyll content. Cohen-Bazire et al. (1957) found that in *Rhodospirillum rubrum* and *Rhodopseudomonas spherioides* (PPB strains), the rate of bacteriochlorophyll synthesis is inversely linked to the light intensity. When the light intensity is altered, the pigments adjust their populations by a transient stimulation or suppression. A decrease in light intensity causes an acceleration in the rate of bacteriochlorophyll pigment synthesis; inversely, an increase in the light intensity causes a suppression in the rate of pigment synthesis.

The previous studies offered PPB as a technology to treat wastewater with high COD, N, and P removal efficiencies and simultaneous PPB biomass production with high protein content and high nutrient recovery (Hulsen et al., 2016; Hulsen et al., 2017). Using artificial lights with high intensity challenges the economic feasibility of the PPB technology, hence, light intensity optimization is crucial to enable this technology. The objectives of the current study are; (a) assessment of PPB performance at IR intensities of as low as 3 Wm⁻² and 1.4 Wm⁻² (b) PPB enrichment and simultaneous substrate removal to below target limits of 50 mgCODL⁻¹, 10 mgNL⁻¹, and 1 mgPL⁻¹ (c) determination of the optimum hydraulic retention time (HRT) at IR light intensities of 3 and 1.4 Wm⁻² (d) determination of the Monod kinetic parameters at 3 Wm⁻², at HRT, and SRT of 9 hours and 5 days respectively (e) the effect of light-dark cycles of 2 h-2 h on the PPB performance at IR light intensity of 1.4 Wm⁻².
4.2. Materials and methods

4.2.1. Raw wastewater

Municipal wastewater, for this experiment was collected from the Greenway treatment plant located in London, Ontario. After collection, the wastewater was immediately stored in a cold room at a temperature of 4°C. The wastewater was allowed to settle for a period of 2 hours prior to being used as the feed for the photobioreactor. The primary effluent municipal wastewater characteristics are summarized in Table 4.1.

Parameters	Values			
TCOD (mg/L)	430 ± 50 (n=30)			
SCOD (mg/L)	210 ± 45 (n=30)			
TSS (mg/L)	160 ± 20 (n=20)			
VSS (mg/L)	100 ± 15 (n=20)			
TN (mg/L)	43 ± 5 (n=30)			
TKN (mg/L)	42 ± 5 (n=30)			
NH₄-N (mg/L)	32 ± 4 (n=30)			
NOx(mg/L)	0.95 ± 0.1 (n=30)			
TP (mg/L)	6.5 ± 0.9 (n=30)			
SP (mg/L)	3.7 ± 0.5 (n=30)			

Table 4.1. Municipal wastewater characteristics

4.2.2. PPB enrichment

A series of fed-batch tests were carried out to enrich the PPB in municipal wastewater under low IR light intensity of 3 Wm⁻². Flat foam sheets were used to set the IR light intensity to 3 Wm⁻² (Appendix B). Raw municipal wastewater was anaerobically illuminated while ethanol was dosed at 100 mgCOD/L. The influent SCOD, NH₄, and PO₄ concentrations were 396 mg/L, 30 mg/L, and 3.4 mg/L respectively. The batch tests were conducted using two bottles with a working

volume of 250 mL. The bottles were continuously mixed at 100 rpm. The samples were allowed to be settled for the duration of 2 hours on days 4, 8, 12 16, and 20, 200 mL of the supernatant were discarded and replaced with 200 mL fresh raw wastewater that were added to the 50 mL PPB inoculum which remained in the bottles after the settlement period. The SCOD, NH₄, and PO₄ concentrations were measured every 4 days to evaluate the PPB growth and COD, N, and P removal from the municipal wastewater.

4.2.3. Anaerobic membrane photobioreactor configuration at low infrared (IR) intensity

The 2 L acrylic rectangular photobioreactor (PHB) with a submerged flat sheet membrane (Kubota, Osaka, Japan) with an area of 0.12 m² depicted in Figure 4.1 was used for this study. The length, width and height of the PHB were 34, 2 and 40 cm respectively. Four infrared LED lamps (96 IR LED for Night Vision Camera) using foam sheets as diffusers were used to illuminate the photobioreactor at 3, and 1.4 Wm⁻². IR light intensity was measured using IR sensor (Ocean Optics HR 4000). A vacuum pump (Cole Parmer, Air Cadet, R-K 07530-85) aids in continuously mixing the photobioreactor with internal gas from its headspace. A diffuser at the bottom of the photobioreactor transports the gas through the vacuum pump to the photobioreactor. Raw wastewater (primary effluent) was continuously added to the photobioreactor with the aid of a peristaltic pump (Cole Parmer, 7520-67 Masterflex Console Drive Peristaltic pump). The PHB was operated at flow rates of 1.3, 2.6, and 5.2 Ld⁻¹, corresponding to HRTs of 36, 18, and 9h respectively.



Figure 4.1. Continuous membrane photobioreactor configuration at 3 Wm⁻² (left), 1.4 Wm⁻² (center) and light-dark cycles of 2 h-2 h at light intensity of 1.4 Wm⁻² (right)

Experimental analysis was conducted once every three days for both the reactor influent and effluent and the sludge was withdrawn from the bottom of the photobioreactor to control sludge retention time (SRT). During the entire experimentation phase (7 periods) the photobioreactor's average temperature and pH were respectively 22°C and 7.3. Steady-state mass balances were calculated according to the equation1 at an SRT of five days to determine the COD, nitrogen and phosphorus mass closures.

$$Mass closure (\%) = \frac{Effluent conc (mgL^{-1}) . Effluent volume (Ld^{-1}) + Sludge conc (mgL^{-1}) . Sludge volume (Ld^{-1})}{Influent conc (mgL^{-1}) . Influent volume (Ld^{-1})}$$
(1)

The summary of the operating conditions is depicted in Table 4.2. The photobioreactor was started using a 200 mL PPB inoculum from the fed-batch tests conducted at IR light intensity of 3 Wm⁻² (Appendix B). During start-up (18 days), the PHB was operated at the HRT of 36 hours with no biomass withdrawal. During the steady state, the photobioreactor (PHB) was operated at different HRTs of 36 h, 18 h and 9 h. The SRT was set to 5 days during periods 1-7 when the PHB was illuminated at 3 and 1.4 Wm⁻². In period 7, the PHB was operated in the light-dark cycles of 2 h-2 h under IR light intensity of 1.4 Wm⁻² at the SRT of 5 days. The PHB was opened two times, at days 24 and 60 after periods 2 and 4, respectively to remove the biofilm from the membrane and the reactor's walls. The PHB's operation for long periods at the short HRT of 9 h led to the formation of the PPB biofilm which impaired the performance of the photobioreactor.

Doriod	HRT	SRT	Ethanol	IR light intensity		
Pendu	(h)	(d)	(mg/L)	(Wm ⁻²)		
Startup	36	-	200	3		
Period 1	26	5	_	2		
Day 0-12	50	5		5		
Period 2	36	5	200	3		
Day 13-24	50	5	200			
Period 3	18	5	200	3		
Day 25-42	10	5	200	-		
Period 4	9	5	300	3		
Day 43-60				-		
Period 5	18	5	300	1.4		
Day 61-72		•				
Period 6	9	5	300	1.4		
Day 73-90		5				
Period 7	9	5	300	1.4 (light-dark		
Day 91-110		5	500	cycles of 2h-2h		

Table 4.2. The summary of PHB operating conditions

4.2.4. Analytical methods

The following parameters were measured based on standard methods for examination of water and wastewater 18th edition (APHA AWWA and WEF, 1992). Total chemical oxygen demand (TCOD), total nitrogen (TN), total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN), total phosphorous (TP) and soluble chemical oxygen demand (SCOD) were determined according to the HACH method (HACH Odyssey DR 2800). Total suspended solids (TSS) and volatile suspended solids (VSS) were determined according to standard methods (APHA, 1998). All soluble samples were specified using a membrane filter with a 0.45 μ m pore size (GN Metricel Membrane Disc Filters, Pall Laboratory).

4.2.5. Microbial growth

The optical density (OD) test was used to evaluate the absorbance behaviour of the samples taken from the photobioreactor during periods 3, and 5 at an HRT of 18 h and light intensities of 3, and 1.4 Wm⁻² respectively. This analysis performed using DR 3900 spectrophotometer demonstrated the presence of bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid pigments in the PPB's cell. The optical density (OD) peaks at wavelengths of 590, 800, and 860 nm which show the presence of bacteriochlorophyll pigments, while, the two peaks at 460 and 488 nm reflect the presence of carotenoid pigments in the PPB.

4.2.6. Monod kinetic model

The Monod Kinetic simulation was carried out in MATLAB (MATLAB R2017a, The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA) to determine the parameters K_s , K, K_d and μ_{max} . The nonlinear curve fitting command (lsqcurvefit) was employed to establish the best fit of the experimental data X (t) and S (t) from the batch tests to Monod kinetic parameters. The batch tests were carried out using a combination of 150 mL fresh wastewater, 100 mgCODL⁻¹ ethanol and 50 mL PPB inoculum from the photobioreactor at an HRT of 18 h and an IR intensity of 3.3 Wm⁻². The mixture of the inoculum, fresh wastewater and ethanol had initial SCOD, NH₄, PO₄, and VSS concentrations of 292, 24.5, 3, and 360 mgL⁻¹ respectively. 10 mL samples were collected hourly for a period of eight hours to measure the soluble COD and VSS concentrations.

4.3. Results and discussion

4.3.1. IR light intensity measurement

The profile of the illumination intensity-wavelength is depicted below in Figure 4.2. The IR light intensity was determined using integration of irradiance curve between the wavelengths of 750 nm and 900 nm to calculate the area under the curve which demonstrates the light intensity.



Figure 4.2. Irradiance-wavelength profile at 3, and 1.4 Wm⁻²

4.3.2. PPB fed-batch tests

At day 20, the SCOD, NH₄, and PO₄ concentrations were 134, 13, and 1.2 mgL⁻¹ respectively, corresponding to the SCOD, NH₄, and PO₄ removal efficiencies of 66%, 57%, and 65%. The low SCOD, NH₄, and PO₄ removal efficiencies at day 8 were 12%, 9%, and 15% respectively, which was due to the inadequate PPB culture at the beginning of the fed-batch tests (days 1-8).



Figure 4.3. COD, N, and P concentrations in the fed-batch tests

4.3.3. PPB performance at low light intensity

During the start-up, the average effluent COD, N, and P concentrations were $137\pm82 \text{ mgL}^{-1}$, $15\pm6 \text{ mgL}^{-1}$ and $1.5\pm1 \text{ mgL}^{-1}$ respectively, corresponding to COD, N, and P removal efficiencies of 77%, 62%, and 73% (based on 6 samples). Steady-state effluent TCOD, TN, and TP concentrations (based on 36 samples) as well as TCOD, TN, and TP removal efficiencies are summarized in Table 4.3, while the temporal COD, N, and P variations are illustrated in Figures 4.4, 4.5, and 4.6 respectively. The effluent substrate concentrations were below target limits of 50 mgCODL⁻¹, 10

mgNL⁻¹, and 1 mgPL⁻¹ during periods 2, 3, and 4 when ethanol was dosed at the average concentration of 260 mgCODL⁻¹. These results showed PPB's high potential for municipal wastewater treatment at IR light intensity as low as 1.4 Wm⁻². In periods 1-6, the average TCOD: TN: TP uptake ratio by PPB at steady-state was 100: 6: 1; however, this ratio decreased to 100: 4.5: 0.59 during period 7 when the PHB was operated in light-dark cycles of 2 h- 2 h. The PHB color changed from red to purple in period 7 indicating that the PPB culture in light-dark cycles of 2 h- 2 h was different than the PPB culture in periods 1-6 (full-light). Steady state mass balances in periods 4 and 6 when the PHB was operated at the HRT of 9 h, showed COD mass closure of $82\%\pm4\%$ and $81\%\pm3\%$, TN mass closure of $86\%\pm4\%$ and $83\%\pm2\%$ as well as TP mass closure of $83\%\pm4\%$ and $81\%\pm1\%$ respectively.

Period	TCOD removal (%)	Effluent TCOD (mg/L)	TN removal (%)	Effluent TN (mg/L)	TP removal (%)	Effluent TP (mg/L)
1	92 ± 0.8	36 ± 3	44 ± 3	24 ± 2	77 ± 3	1.34 ± 0.2
2	95 ± 0.3	34 ± 3	85 ± 2	6 ± 1	87 ± 3	0.72 ± 0.1
3	95 ± 0.4	34 ± 3	86 ± 3	6 ± 2	93 ± 1	0.4 ± 0.1
4	94 ± 0.5	40 ± 2	80 ± 1	8 ± 1	90 ± 2	0.54 ± 0.1
5	95 ± 0.3	39 ± 2	85 ± 2	5 ± 1	91 ± 1	0.66 ± 0.07
6	94 ± 0.5	40 ± 3	81 ± 2	7 ± 1	88 ± 1	0.9 ± 0.08
7	94 ± 0.7	43 ± 3	73 ± 3	11 ± 2	69 ± 4	1.8 ± 0.3

Table 4.3. Steady-state photobioreactor performance for different periods



Figure 4.4. Influent and effluent COD concentrations at 3 and 1.4 Wm⁻²



Figure 4.5. Influent and effluent N concentrations at 3 and 1.4 Wm⁻²





In periods 2-6, the average effluent COD, N and P concentrations were 37 mg/L, 6 mg/L and 0.62 mg/L respectively. The high effluent nitrogen concentration of 24 mgL⁻¹ (removal efficiency of 44%) in period 1 was due to the inadequate carbon source. The nitrogen removal efficiency increased significantly to more than 80%) with the addition of ethanol in periods 2-6. The PHB operation at different HRTs (9-36 h) had no substantial effect on TCOD removal efficiencies (> 92%). Effluent N, and P concentrations increased in both periods 4, and 6 when HRT decreased from 18 h to 9 h. The average COD/N/P uptake ratio by PPB was $100/6\pm0.2/1\pm0.1$ (periods1-6). The temporal variation of the above-mentioned ratio in periods 1-6 is depicted in Figure 4.4. It is very evident from Figure 4.4, that the ratio of COD/N/P uptake by the PPB was stable throughout the study irrespective of HRT and light intensity. The impact of light intensity of 1.4 Wm⁻² in periods 5, and 6 was not detrimental to the PPB performance in comparison with periods 3-4 when the PHB was operated under IR light intensity of 3 Wm⁻².



Figure 4.7. TN, and TP removed per 100 mgCOD/L removed (lines at 1, and 6 mg/L represent the average P and N ratio removed by PPB per 100 mgCOD/L in periods 1-6)

In period 7, when the PHB was operated in the light-dark cycles of 2 h- 2 h, the average effluent nitrogen and phosphorous concentrations were 11 and 1.8 mg/L respectively; however, the average effluent COD concentration was 43 mg/L. The high effluent phosphorous concentration in this period was due to the release of phosphorous from the PPB biofilm formed on the membrane. Table 4.4 shows a comparison of the SCOD, NH₄, and SP concentrations in the PHB and the permeate (final effluent). The average soluble phosphorous concentration in the PHB was 0.49 ± 0.2 mg/L, which was significantly lower than the effluent phosphorous concentration of the samples taken from the final effluent (1.8 ± 0.3 mg/L). The SCOD, NH₄, and SP analysis of the samples taken from the final effluent and from the PHB at days 103-108 indicated that 1.4 mg/L soluble phosphorous was released from the PPB biofilm on the membrane, which significantly decreased the PPB performance for phosphorous removal in period 7. Based on the Table 4.4, the average effluent SCOD and NH₄ concentrations were 42 and 9 mg/L respectively; however, the SCOD and NH₄ concentrations of the filtered samples taken from the PHB were 55 and 10 mg/L respectively. A paired t-test was conducted to compare SCOD, NH₄, and SP concentrations in the PHB and the permeate (final effluent) to evaluate the effect of the membrane on the SCOD, NH₄ and SP removal

efficiencies and the PPB performance. Based on the results of the t-test, there were significant differences in the SCOD, NH₄, and SP concentrations between the final effluent and the PHB at the 95% confidence level. The two-tailed P value for SCOD, NH₄ and SP values were 0.0001, 0.0014, and 0.0001 respectively. The SCOD, NH₄ and SP average concentrations and their standard deviation are summarized in Table 4.4.

The simultaneous COD uptake and phosphorous release in this period may imply that the polyphosphate-accumulating organisms (PAOs) accumulated on the membrane during the lightdark cycles of 2 h-2 h, particularly that the ratio of COD uptake to P release was 9.3:1, close to typical for PAOs.

Time (d)	Filtered sam	oles taken fron	n the PHB	Samples taken from effluent pump through the membrane			
	SCOD (mg/L)	NH4 (mg/L)	SP (mg/L)	SCOD (mg/L)	NH4 (mg/L)	SP (mg/L)	
103	58	10.4	0.2	41	9.1	1.8	
104	56	9.8	0.4	40	8.7	1.6	
105	51	10.1	0.9	42	9.5	1.8	
106	60	9.8	0.6	43	9	2	
107	55	10.4	0.5	44	9.5	1.9	
108	51	9.6	0.6	39	8.4	2.1	
Average	55	10	0.5	42	9	1.9	
Standard deviation	4	0.3	0.2	2	0.4	0.2	

Table 4.4. The effect of the PPB biofilm on the PPB performance

The PHB's MLSS and MLVSS during periods 1-7 are depicted in Figure 4.5. The ranges of MLSS and MLVSS in periods 1-7 varied from 290 to 1250 mgL⁻¹, and from 240 to 1090 mgL⁻¹ respectively. It is obvious from Figure 4.8, that the variations of the MLSS, and MLVSS were correlated with the HRT. The average ratio of MLVSS to MLSS was 0.85 ± 0.05 which was stable during periods 1-7. The average biomass yield of 0.50 ± 0.02 mgVSS mgCOD⁻¹ in periods 3-6 demonstrates that the PPB performance remained the same when light intensity decreased from 3 to 1.4 Wm⁻².



Figure 4.8. PHB's MLSS and MLVSS in periods1-7

4.3.4. Microbial growth

The results of the optical density (OD) tests at light intensities of 3, and 1.4 Wm⁻² as well as the light- dark cycles of 2 h-2 h at the IR light intensity of 1.4 Wm⁻² are depicted in Figure 4.6. The OD tests were carried out when the PHB was operated at the HRT and the SRT of 18 hours and 5 days respectively in periods 3 and 5. The OD tests were also conducted at the HRT of 9 hours and the SRT of 5 days in period 7 in the light- dark cycles. The OD profile of the samples taken from the photobioreactor at the above-mentioned light intensities showed the presence of bacteriochlorophyll pigments with three peaks at 590, 800, and 860 nm and the presence of carotenoid pigments with two peaks at 460, and 488 nm. These results are consistent with PPB's absorbance trend which shows a similar trend with peaks attributed to the above-mentioned pigments (Cohen-Bazire et al., 1957). According to the Figure 4.5 (a), OD values for the sample grown at 1.4 Wm⁻² were 4.04, 4.1, 3.5 and 3.94 respectively at the wavelengths of 460,488, 800 and 860 nm. However, OD results for PHB's sample grown at 3 Wm⁻² were determined to be 4.31, 4.31, 3.05 and 3.35 at the wavelength of 460, 488, 800, and 860 nm respectively. The relatively

higher OD values at 800, and 860 nm for PPB grown under light intensity of 1.4 Wm⁻² showed a higher production of the bacteriochlorophyll pigments due to the adaptation of the PPB to low light intensities. However, the higher OD values at 460, and 488 nm for the PPB grown under light intensity of 3 Wm⁻² indicated that the amount of carotenoid pigments increased with higher light intensities which is consistent with the literature (Zhou et al., 2014).



Figure 4.9. Full-spectrum optical density measurement at 3 Wm⁻² and 1.4 Wm⁻² (HRT=18 h) (a), and at light-dark cycles of 2 h- 2 h at 1.4 Wm⁻² (HRT = 9 h) (b)

4.3.4. Monod kinetic parameters model

Monod kinetic parameters in the batch tests at low IR light intensity of 3 Wm^{-2} were determined by using nonlinear curve-fitting (lsqcurvefit) of the experimental data (X and S) to the Monod kinetic parameters based on Monod equations using MATLAB (MATLAB R2017a, The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA). K_s, K, Y, and K_d at the low IR light intensity of 3 Wm^{-2} were determined to be $20\pm4 \text{ mgCODL}^{-1}$, $1.9\pm0.1 \text{ mgCOD}(\text{mgVSSd})^{-1}$, $0.49\pm0.05 \text{ mgVSS} \text{ mgCOD}^{-1}$, and $0.08\pm0.01 \text{ d}^{-1}$ respectively. According to the derived Monod parameters, theoretical cell growth and substrate removal were obtained by solving Monod equations using ODE45. The comparison between the theoretical and experimental cell growth and substrate removal are depicted in Figure 4.7. The average absolute percentages of the discrepancy between experimental data and Monod fit for substrate (S) removal and cell (X) growth were 4% and 3% respectively, which demonstrates the accuracy of the model parameters.



Figure 4.10. Monod fit and experimental data for substrate removal (a) and cell growth (b) at the low intensity of 3 Wm⁻²

According to equation 2, the effluent substrate concentration in a continuous-flow reactor is the function of SRT, Ks, Kd, K and Y. The PHB effluent substrate concentration based on the abovementioned kinetic parameters and equation 2 was determined to be 8 mgCODL⁻¹, while experimental results showed the average effluent of 37 mgCODL⁻¹ which shows that the concentration of the inert soluble COD in the wastewater collected from the Greenway treatment plant is 29 mgCODL⁻¹. This is higher than the inert soluble COD concentration of 14 mgL⁻¹ observed by Gupta et al. (2018) in the same wastewater. The soluble microbial products (SMPs) concentration was determined to be 13 mgCODL⁻¹ by using equations 3, and 4 (Rittmann et al., 1987). This demonstrated that SMPs were released from microbial product accumulated on the membrane and affected the effluent quality. Base on the above-mentioned results, the COD fractionation of the effluent was: inert soluble COD (16 mgL⁻¹), the soluble microbial products (13 mgCODL⁻¹), and the biodegradable soluble COD (8 mgL⁻¹).

$$S = \frac{K_{s} (1 + K_{d} . SRT)}{SRT (\mu_{max} - K_{d}) - 1}$$
(2)

$$P = \frac{P_0}{1 + \frac{K_{3m} \cdot X_a \cdot \Theta_c}{P_0}}$$
(3)

$$P_0 = -K_1 (S_0 - S) + K_2 X_a \theta_c$$
(4)

Where, S_0 and S are influent and effluent soluble substrates respectively (mg/L), X_a is MLVSS (mg/L), Θ_c is sludge retention time (d), P_0 is the total SMP concentration if no SMP degradation occurs (mg/L), $K_1 = 0.18$ gCOD_{products}/gCOD, $K_2 = 0.2$ gCOD_{product}/gVSS.d, and $K_{3M} = 5$ gCOD/gVSS.d.

Table 4.5 summarizes the PPB Monod kinetic parameters. By comparison with the PPB at high IR light intensity, it appears that PPB performance at the IR intensity of 3 Wm⁻² was comparable to the intensity of 50 Wm⁻².

Bacteria	Light intensity (Wm ⁻²)	Ks (mgCODL ⁻¹)	K (mgCOD/mgVSSd)	Y (mgVSS/mgCOD)	μ _{max} (1/d)	K _d (1/d)	References
РРВ	3	20±4	1.9±0.1	0.49±0.05	0.93	0.08±0.01	This study
PPB	50	20±4	2.4±0.2	0.63	1.54	0.09±0.02	Puyol et al.(2017)

 Table 4.5. The summary of Monod kinetic parameters

The main energy inputs for the PHB are lighting and mixing energy for membrane scouring. The mixing energy was determined to be 0.15 kWh/m³ (Hulsen et al., 2017). Hulsen et al. (2016) utilized high light intensity (50 Wm⁻²) to evaluate the PPB's viability in municipal wastewater treatment using continuous-flow photobioreactor. The high energy consumption (24 kWh/m³) for the above-mentioned light intensity challenges the practical application of the PPB technology. Based on the results of this study, high PPB performance was achieved at light intensities of 3, and 1.4 Wm⁻² which significantly decreased energy consumption for lighting to 1.44, and 0.67 kWh/m³. These results expand the potential of the PPB technology for municipal wastewater treatment using a membrane photobioreactor, reducing light energy by up to 97%. The comparison of the operating conditions and the performance of the PPB, high rate algal pond (HRAP) and photobioreactors (PBRs) using microalgae are summarized in Table 4.6. Wastewater treatment by PPB offers higher N, and P removal efficiencies at significantly lower HRTs in comparison with HRAP and PBRs using algae. Furthermore, PPB's operational costs are considerably lower than PBRs using microalgae. Large footprint, long HRTs, and moderate N and P removal efficiencies are the drawbacks of HRAP in comparison with PPB.

Table 4.6. The comparison of the operating conditions and the performance of the PPB,high rate algal pond (HRAP) and photobioreactors (PBRs)

Technology	N	Р	HRT	SRT	Light	Energy	Footprint	Operational	References
	removal	removal	(d)	(d)	intensity	(mixing)	(m²/m³)	costs	
	(%)	(%)			(Wm⁻²)	(kWh/m³)			
HRAP	67	52	2-10 ^a	2-10	<100 ^b	-	Large	Low	Shoener et
					(sunlight)				al., (2014)
PBR	78	93	2-10 ^a	2-10	<100 ^b	1.75-3.6	Small	High	Shoener et
									al., (2014)
PPB	82	90	0.4	3	1.4	0.15 ^b	Small	medium	This study

^a (Jorquera et al., 2010; Larsdotter, 2006)

^b (Hulsen et al., 2017)

4.4. Summary and Conclusions

The results of this study demonstrate the potential of the purple phototrophic bacteria (PPB) in treating municipal wastewater at IR light intensity of as low as 1.4 Wm⁻². These results prove the feasibility of simultaneous non-destructive COD, N, and P removal at low IR light intensity. The results of this study are summarized as follows:

- 1. Anaerobic phototrophic municipal wastewater treatment with PPB can achieve average effluent COD, N, and P concentrations of below 37 mgL⁻¹, 6 mgL⁻¹, and 0.62 mgL⁻¹ with an external COD addition (240 mgL⁻¹) under low IR light intensity of 3, and 1.4 Wm⁻².
- 2. The study demonstrates that the optimized light intensity used for municipal wastewater treatment with PPB is significantly lower than previously indicated in the literature. The energy consumptions attributed to illuminate the PHB at 3, and 1.4 Wm⁻² were determined to be 1.44, and 0.67 kWh/m³ respectively which are significantly lower than previous studies (> 24kWh/m³).
- 3. The effluent COD, N, and P concentrations throughout period 7 (light-dark cycles of 2 h-2 h) were significantly different than periods 1-6 when the PHB was operated under fulllighting without the accumulation of the PPB biofilm on the membrane. However, the

energy consumption attributed to the lighting decreased significantly, to 0.33 kWh/m³, using light-dark cycles of 2 h-2 h.

- 4. The average effluent COD of 37 mgL⁻¹ was attributed to the inert COD, SMPs, and biodegradable COD concentrations of 16, 13, and 8 mgL⁻¹ respectively.
- 5. Monod Kinetic parameters K_s, K, Y, and K_d were determined to be 20 mgCODL⁻¹, 1.9 mgCOD (mgVSS.d)⁻¹, 0.49 mgVSS mgCOD⁻¹, and 0.08 d⁻¹ at low light intensity of 3 Wm⁻² which are comparable to the Monod kinetic parameters determined at high light intensity from the literature.

4.5. References

Azad, S., Vikineswary, S., Ramachandran, K. and Chong, V. (2001) Growth and production of biomass of Rhodovulum sulfidophilum in sardine processing wastewater. Letters in applied microbiology 33(4), 264-268.

Cohen-Bazire, G., W. R. Sistrom, and R. Y. Stainer. 1957. Kinetic studies of pigment synthesis by non-sulfur purple bacteria. J.Cellular Comp. Physiol. 49:25-68.

Gupta, Medhavi, "Microsieving as a Primary Treatment for Biological Nitrogen Removal from Municipal Wastewater" (2018). Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. 5288.

Hiraishi, A., Yanase, A. and Kitamura, H. (1991) Polyphosphate Accumulation by Rhodobacter sphaeroides Grown under Different Environmental Conditions with Special Emphasis on the Effect of External Phoshate Concentrations. Japanese Society of Microbial ecology 6(1), 25-32.

Holt, S. C., and A. G. Marr. 1965. Effect of light intensity on the formation of intracytoplasmic membrane in Rhodlospirillunm rubrum. J. Bacteriol. 89:1421-1429.

Hülsen, T., Barry, E.M., Lu, Y., Puyol, D., Keller, J., Batstone, D.J., (2016) Domestic wastewater treatment with purple phototrophic bacteria using a novel continuous photo anaerobic membrane bioreactor. Water Research 100, 486-495.

Hülsen, T., Hsieh, K., Lu, Y., Tait, S., Batstone, D.J., 2018. Simultaneous treatment and single cell protein production from agri-industrial wastewaters using purple phototrophic bacteria or microalgae e a comparison. Bioresour. Technol. 254, 214e223.

Jorquera, O., Kiperstok, A., Sales, E.A., Embiruçu, M., Ghirardi, M.L., 2010. Comparative energy life-cycle analyses of microalgal biomass production in open ponds and photobioreactors. Bioresour. Technol. 101 (4), 1406e1413.

Kim, M.K., Choi, K.-M., Yin, C.-R., Lee, K.-Y., Im, W.-T., Lim, J.H. and Lee, S.-T. (2004) Odorous swine wastewater treatment by purple non-sulfur bacteria, Rhodopseudomonas palustris, isolated from eutrophicated ponds. Biotechnology Letters 26(10), 819-822.

Kuo, F.-S., Chien, Y.-H., Chen, C.-J. 2012. Effects of light sources on growth and carotenoid content of photosynthetic bacteria Rhodopseudomonas palustris. Bioresour. Technol. 113(0), 315-318.

Larsdotter, K., 2006. Wastewater treatment with microalgae-a literature review. Vatten 62 (1), 31.

Prasertsan, P., Choorit, W. and Suwanno, S. (1993) Optimization for growth of Rhodocyclus gelatinosus in seafood processing effluents. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 9(5), 593-596.

Puyol, D., Barry, E., Huelsen, T., Batstone, D.J., 2017. A mechanistic model for anaerobic phototrophs in domestic wastewater applications: photo-anaerobic model (PAnM). Water Research 116, 241-253.

Qu, X. F., Wang, Y. Z., Zhu, X., Liao, Q., Li, J., Ding, Y. D., Lee, D. J., 2011. Bubble behavior and photo-hydrogen production performance of photosynthetic bacteria in microchannel photobioreactor. Int. J Hydrogen Energy 36, 14111–14119.

Rittmann, B.E., W. Bae, E. Namkung, and C.-J. Lu, A critical evaluation of microbial product formation in biological processes. Water Science and Technology, 19(Rio), pp. 517-528 (1987).

Shoener, B.D., Bradley, I.M., Cusick, R.D., Guest, J.S., 2014. Energy positive domestic wastewater treatment: the roles of anaerobic and phototrophic technologies. Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts 16 (6), 1204e1222.

Takabatake, H., Suzuki, K., Ko, I.-B. and Noike, T. (2004) Characteristics of anaerobic ammonia removal by a mixed culture of hydrogen producing photosynthetic bacteria. Bioresource Technology 95(2), 151-158.

Zhang, C., Zhang, H., Zhang, Z., Jiao, Y., Zhang, Q., 2014. Effects of mass transfer and light intensity on substrate biological degradation by immobilized photosynthetic bacteria within an annular fiber-illuminating biofilm reactor. J.Photoch. Photobio. B. 131, 113–119.

Chapter 5

5. Conclusions and recommendations

5.1. Conclusions

The detailed findings of this study have been included in chapters 3 and 4. The principal findings of the first study (chapter 3) were as follows:

- This study demonstrated that the low temperature of 11°C and the short HRT of 9 hours had no detrimental impacts on PPB performance. PPB have a high potential to treat municipal wastewater at 11°C and 22°C with effluent COD, N, and P concentrations below 50 mgL⁻¹, 10 mgL⁻¹, and 1 mgL⁻¹ respectively. The addition of an external carbon source (300 mgCODL⁻¹) was required for N, and P removal based on the ratio of COD/N/P uptake by PPB (100/6.1/1.3).
- 2. The results of the steady-state mass balance indicated high COD, N, and P mass closures (>80%), which is indicative of PPB's substrate and nutrient assimilation.
- 3. High phosphorus removal was achieved by PPB without the addition of ethanol, although chemical polishing was required to meet the target limit of 1 mgPL⁻¹.
- 4. Monod kinetic parameters K_s, K, K_d, and Y were 20-29 mgCODL⁻¹, 1.6-1.9 mgCOD (mgVSS.d)⁻¹, 0.07-0.08 d⁻¹, and 0.47 mgVSS mgCOD⁻¹ respectively at temperatures of 11°C-22°C. Based on Monod kinetic parameters, the effluent soluble BOD₅ was estimated to be 10-22 mgL⁻¹ which is significantly higher than the value reported in the literature (<10 mgL⁻¹)

The major findings of the second study (chapter 4) were as follows:

- 1. This study demonstrated that the simultaneous non-destructive removal of COD, N, and P from municipal wastewater was feasible using PPB at a light intensity as low as 1.4 Wm⁻².
- High PPB performance was achieved with average effluent COD, N, and P concentrations below 37 mgL⁻¹, 6 mgL⁻¹, and 0.62 mgL⁻¹ respectively when ethanol was dosed at 240 mgCODL⁻¹. The results showed that the effluent COD was attributed to the inert COD and

SMPs from the microbial product accumulated on the membrane. The short HRT of 9 h had no detrimental impact on the PPB performance.

- 3. The energy consumption attributed to the PHB's illumination was determined to be 0.67 kWh/m³ which is significantly lower than previously indicated in the literature (>24 kWh/m³).
- 4. The PPB performance in the light-dark cycles of 2 h-2 h (period 7) was significantly different from its performance during the periods under full-lighting due to the P release and COD uptake by the biofilm on the membrane surface.
- 5. The low light intensity of 3 Wm⁻² had no substantial impact on the Monod kinetic parameters K_s, K, K_d, and Y in comparison with the high light intensity of 50 Wm⁻².

5.2. Recommendations

The practical application of PPB in municipal wastewater treatment would require further investigation. The recommendations for future work are as follows:

- 1. Assessment of the PPB performance at IR light intensities of <1.4 Wm⁻² is recommended to determine the optimum IR light intensity for municipal wastewater treatment by PPB.
- 2. Different light-dark cycles of 1 h- 3 h and 1 h- 4 h at the IR light intensity of 1.4 Wm⁻² are recommended to reduce the energy consumption, up to 80% compared to the full-lighting condition.
- Further investigation of the impact of the biofilm on the PHB performance, particularly on the effluent phosphorous concentration, is required regarding the phosphorous release from the PPB biofilm on the membrane.
- 4. The addition of an external carbon source is neither financially feasible nor environmentally friendly. Fermentate from PPB biomass digestion (internal carbon source) can be used as an alternative for the external carbon source. Thus, nutrient removal by PPB with an internal carbon source is recommended to optimize the PHB.

5. The application of PPB in lagoon systems is recommended using sunlight with an IR filter which absorbs the spectrums below 790 nm. However, the large footprint may be the drawback of this treatment system.

Appendices

Appendix A. Supplementary material for chapter 3

Fed-batch tests setup at $22^{\circ}C$ (a) and $11^{\circ}C$ (b)





The effect of different HRTs (36 h, 18 h, and 9 h) (a) and low temperature (b) on the PPB growth

Appendix B. Supplementary material for chapter 4

Fed-batch tests setup at low IR light intensity of 3 Wm^{-2}



Curriculum Vitae

Name:

Post-secondary education and degrees:

Peyman Dalaei

University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran 2011-2013 M.E.Sc. Environmental Engineering

The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2017-2019 M.E.Sc. Civil-Environmental Engineering

Honours and awards:

Western Graduate Research Scholarship 2017-2019

Related Work experience:

Graduate Research Assistant University of Western Ontario 2017-2019

Graduate Teaching Assistant University of Western Ontario 2017-2019